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PREFACE

In January 1953 the Government of India appointed a Board of
Editors for the compilation of History of the Freedom Movement in
India. In order to assist and collect material the Central Board.of
Editors requested all the State Governments to set up State Committees
in every State. Accordingly, the then Bombay State formed the Bombay
State Committee for a History of the Freedom Movement in India in
November 1953. This Committee worked for a few years and was
dissolved in September 1956. It however recommended to the State
Government to continue the office and publish the Source Material
for a History of the Freedom Movement. The Committee with late
Prof. M. R. Palande as Executive Secretary brought out two volumes
on Source Material, one dealing with the period from 1818 to 1885
and the other from 1885-1920. Prof. N. R. Phatak took charge of the
Committee as Executive Secretary in 1959. Under his guidance three
volumes were published pertaining to Source Material on Mahatma
Gandhi. In 1973 the office of the committee was discontinued and the
staff was merged with the Gazetteers Department which was entrusted
with the task of completing the rest of the work. The department has
so far completed the series in the Source Material pertaining to Mahatma
Gandhi by bringing out four additional volumes. The department
now proposes to bring out the Source Material for the most crucial
period in the Freedom Struggle viz., 1920-1947. It is envisaged to
publish this vast Source Material contained in the records of Home
‘Department, Inspector General of Police, Commissioner of Police,
Archives etc., of the Government of Maharashtra in 15 to 20 volumes
covering subjects such as Civil Dis-obedience Movement, Khilafat,
Quit India Movement, Revolutionary activities in Maharashtra,
Revolutionary activities in Vidarbha, Revolutionary activities in
Marathwada, Gandhiji in Maharashtra, and Political Parties and
Personalities during freedom struggle etc. These volumes will also
contain material from the Archives of the Government of Goa, Daman
and Diu on the Freedom Struggle in Goa vis-a-vis Maharashtra and
from the Archives of the Governments of Andhra Pradesh and Madhya
Pradesh pertaining to the districts of Marathwada and Vidarbha regions
of the present State of Maharashtra but which formerly formed part
of these respective States. The material from these numerous sources
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would be collected subjectwise "and individualwise and would be
published as and when the compilation and collection as stated above
is completed. As such it would be very difficult to maintain
in the publication a chronological sequence in the narration
of events in the History of the Freedom Struggle. This means that
source material pertaining to non-co-operation movement in Bombay
City during 1919-25 may not be followed by that of in 1930, 1931 or
1932 or for that matter by the Source Material on Khilafat Movement.

The present volume, the material for which has been compiled from
the records of the office of the Commissioner of Police, Greater Bombay,
is the second in the series of volumes proposed to be published for the
period 1920-47 of the freedom struggle and covers the period 1919-1924.
It is entitled ‘““History of the Non-co-operation Movement in
Sind, 1919-1924°. It deals with the glorious period of the non-co-
operation movement in Sind which was launched after the formation
of the All India Home Rule League in 1916 mainly by Mrs. Besant and
Lokamanya Tilak, as also the progress of the non-co-operation move-
ment, the gradual decline of the influence of the responsivists and the:
growth of that of Mahatma Gandhi, the efforts made by the leaders
of both the Hindus and Muslims, such as Mrs. Annie Besant,
M. K. Gandhi, Ali Brothers, A. T. Gidwani, Dr. C. P. Gidwani, Shaikh
Abdulla A. Majid, G. J. Shivdasani, Ghulam Mahomed Bhurgri, J. P.
Gulrajani, J. P. Mansukhani alias Swami Govindanand, Mukhi
Jethanand, Nur Mahomed, Mahomed Khan Ghazi Khan, H. A. Haroon,
Jamshed N. R. Mehta, Jairamdas Daulatram, Jeswani T. K., Dr. Kitchlew,
Haji Abdul Rehman, Jamanalal Bajaj, Begraj Virumal, Abul Kalam
Azad, Abdul Karim, Rajagopalcharya, Dr. Ansari, Aziz Shaikh Abdul,
Abdul Gaffar Khan, D. B. Adwani, etc. and others, small as well as
big in the then province of Sind, to bring about amity among both the
communities which had developed differences, the robust and at times
the defiant attitude adopted by the masses at large when provoked by
the fiery speeches delivered by the non-co-operation leaders etc. The
account coming as it did from the pen of a Government emissary is
often times garbled and fictitious and presents a distortious picture of
the struggle, blaming the Congress and giving a pat on the back of the
Government. This makes it necessary for the reader to read the account.
in between the lines for eliciting the truth. Omne, however, wonders.
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what would have happened in the province of Sind in the crucial years
after the First Great World War and the death of Tilak, if the cementing
influence of Mahatma Gandhi had been totally absent. The account,
however, is emphatic on the point that Hindu-Muslim unity was a myth
and there was no common bond that could wield the two communities
together.

In the compilation and collation of this volume, I was assisted by
Dr. V. N. Gurav, M.A., Ph.D., Deputy Editor, Shri M. H. Ranade, B.A.,
Research Officer, Shri S. K. Khilare, B. Com., LL.B., Research Officer,
Shri B. N. Phatak, M.A., Superintendent, Sarvashri K. Z. Raut, M.A,
and D. J. Nawadkar M.A., Research Assistants, Shri Tendulkar, Assistant
and Shri S. G. Shetye and Smt. V. S. Bhagwat, typists toall of whom my
thanks are due. I am also thankful to the Commissioner of Police, the
Deputy Commissioner of Police and the other Staff in the records
section of the Office of the Commissioner of Police. My thanks are
also due to Shri S. A. Sapre, Director of Printing and Stationery,
Government of Maharashtra and Shri Marne, Manager, Government
Press, Kolhapur and other staff of the Government Press, Kolhapur
for the expeditious manner in which the present volume was brought
out. I am also thankful to my parent department viz., General
Administration Department for the kind consideration it has always
shown to me in the execution of this important work.

Bombay : B. G. Kunte,
August, 1977. § Executive Editor and Secretary _
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HISTORY OF THE NON—CO~0PERATION MOVEMENT
SIND 1919-1924

Introduaction

The year 1919 opened with two main political bodies in the
field, viz., the All India Home Rule League established in 1916
mainly by Mrs. Besant and Tilak’s Indian Home Rule League
started in 1917. Of these two, Tilak’s League with its stronghold
in the Deccan had a large following in Sind. Mrs. Besant on the
other hand had for some time been losing ground everywhere.
During the first half of February 1919 she had toured
through Sind on behalf of the All India Home Rule League
but on the 16th of that month, having been virtually thrown over
by that body in a meeting at Bombay called to ratify her proposals
passed at Delhi in December 1918 for a deputation to England
to ask for the already promised and overdue reforms, she seceded
from that body and eventually in April 1919 at Benares started
her own National Home Rule League leaving Gandhi master of
the All India Home Rule League.

Gandhi at this period of his career gave numerous indications
of being a thoroughgoing opportunist, advancing cautiously,
differing on almost every subject and occasion from his rivals, espe-
cially Tilak, but yet not entirely breaking from them until quite
sure of his following. His ideas on °° Satyagraha > had the air
of novelty about them and held a certain appeal for the people
generally, apart from his own particular following in Gujarat.
Tilak, as was well-known towards the end of his life did not see
eye to eye with Gandhi, and in December 1919 the former was
in favour of giving the Montagu—Chelmsford Reforms a trial
though he characterised them as both unsatisfactory and disappoin-
ting. Gandhi, on the other hand, professed to seeing something
inconsistent in this attitude, but as he did not think the country
was prepared for throwing out these reforms he decided that the
best course would be to associate himself with Tilak and Das.
When, however, Tilak died in August 1920, Gandhi at once came
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to the fore. He still retained his hold on the All India Home
Rule ILeague which in October 1920 was renamed the ¢ Swaraj
Sabha with the avowed object of securing complete Swaraj for
India in accordance with the wishes of the people of India. >
As far as Sind was concerned this Sabha continued to function
until the beginning of 1921, when its activities were carried on by
the Indian National Congress which had been captured by Gandhi.

The General Trend of Agitation in Sind during 1919

As already mentioned, Mrs. Besant visited Sind in February
1919. - Throughout her tour she emphasised the part Indians had
played -in the war and particularly the assistance given to the
English and French by the Indian troops in saving Paris, adding
that, since the war England had become so intoxicated with her
success that she no longer gave any heed to India’s needs and interests;
consequently it behoved Indians to agitate especially against such a
rank injustice as the Rowlatt legislation which was opposed to ‘the

principles of Magna Charta since it curtailed the liberties of
individuals.

Tilak’s influence, however, soon ousted Mrs. Besant’s in- Sind
and his Indian Home Rule League throve in consequence. At the
same time Gandhi’s *° Satyagraha > ideas were beginning to attract
the extremist element. After this her influence in Sind was never
considerable and her league with Jamshed N. R. Metha of Karachi’
as Vice-President never attracted many adherents. After Tilak’s
death the Sind members of his league for the most part went
over to Gandhi’s side joining his league which was Iater known
( October 1920) as the Swaraj Sabha

Sind has never been a province to initiate any movement on-a:
large scale. An agricultural country still almost  feudal in its
customs and outlook, it has always looked elsewhere for a lead
in such matters and in the main has never been but an indifferent
follower and supporter. While it is never safe to generalise, the
estimate may be risked that at no time between 1919 and 1924
were there  in the province more than a few hundred earnest
conscientious Non-co-operators ready to do or suffer anything for
their beliefs. - o
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A certain number of so-called leaders, however came forward
and travelled round Sind in batches during 1919 condemning
British rule, the proposed Reforms in general and the Rowlatt
Act in particular. They urged the people to be seady for ° Satya-
graha’ when called upon. Mussalmans were attracted by being
told that their religion was in danger and that the Ali Brothers,
who had been interned, according to the agitators, for their
religious beliefs, would not be released if the Rowlatt Bills became
law. Agitation in connection with these bills was stimulated

by Hakim Ajmal Khan, Shuaib Quershi and Swami Satyadev who
visited Sind during 1919.

During the year ¢ Satyagraha Sabha’ began to spring up in
various places and in consequence of che efforts of the agitators
a number of people in Xarachi, Hyderabad, Sukkur, Shikapur
and Larkana signed the ° Satyagraha ’ pledge which was as follows :—

‘“ Being conscientiously of opinion that the Bills known as the
Indian Criminal Law ( Amendment) Bill No.I of 1919, and,
the Criminal Law ( Emergency Powers ) Bill No. II of 1919, are
unjust, subversive of the principle of liberty and justice and
destructive of the elementary rights of individuals on which the
safety of the community as a whole and the State itself is based,
we solemnly affirm that in the event of these bills becoming law
until they are withdrawn, we shall refuse civilly to obey these
laws and such other laws as acommittee to be hereafter appointed
may think fit and further affirm that in this struggle we will

faithfully follow truth and refrain from violence to life, person or
property.” '

That some of these signatories had been carried away by their
emotions may be gauged from the fact that as soon as the ‘news
reached Sind of the troubles in the Punjab and other places .in
April 1919 many of those who had signed retracted.

The Imperial Legislative Council, as the Central Legislature was
then called, in the third week of March 1919 passed the Rowlatt

11
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Act. -Mr. M. K. Gandhi -then in Madras issued on the 24th of
the month the ‘following general message :— :
“ I beg to adv;se as follows :— .

(i) A twenty-four hours’ fast, counting from the last meal
on the preceding night, should be observed by all adults-
unless prevented from so doing by considerations of religion-
or health. The fast is not to be regarded, in any shape -
or form, in the nature of the hunger-strike, or as
designed to put any pressure upon the Government.:
It is to be regarded for the Satyagrahis as a necessary -
discipline to fit them for civil disobedience contemplated
in their pledge, and for -all others, -as some slight
token of the intensity of their wounded feelings.

(i) All work, except such as may be necessary in the public
interest, should be suspended for the day. Markets and
other business places should be closed. Employees,
"who are required to work even on Sundays, may only
suspend work after obtaining prekus leave.

1 do not hesitate to. recommend these two sugges-
tions for adoption by public servants. For, though itis
unquestionably the right thing for them not to take
part in political discussion and gatherings, in my opinion
they have an undoubted right to express, upon vital
matters, their feelings in the very limited manner herein
suggested.

@(ii) Public meetings should be held in all parts of India, not
excluding wvillages, at which resolutions praying for the
withdrawal of the two measures should be passed.

If my advice is deemed worthy of acceptance, the respomnsibility will

" lie, in the first instance, on the various Satyagraha Associations for

undertaking the necessary work of organisation, but all other

Associations will, T hope, join hands in making this demonstra-
tion a success. ’ S

In response to the above message Harfal was observed in
almost all important towns in Sind, at Hyderabad (as at Delhi)"

12
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on the 30th March and elsewhere .on the 6th Apnl 1919. At
some places meetings were also held. :

The latter date had been set for the whole of India but accordiﬂg
to Gandhi’s statement before the Hunter Committee some parts
of the country observed it on the 30th March on hearmg that
the Rowlatt Act had received the Viceregal assent.

Despite Gandhiji’s statement from which it might be inferred
that the country spontaneously observed the <Harral’ in Sind at all
events it was not entirely a voluntary action. In some places the
rowdy element employed threats and landlords and leaders of the
various communities were induced to place their influence on the
side of the agitators. But as far as could be ascertained the fast,
which had also been suggested, did not appeal to the organisers
of this hollow agitation and was not observed generally.

The effect of this ¢ Hartal ° was enhanced by events transpiring
elsewhere about this time such as the disturbances in the Punjab,
Government’s interception of Gandhi on the 8th April while on
his way to the Punjab and his forced return to Bombay, the
¢ Jallianwala Bagh ° incident: on the 13th April 1919 and the Martial
Law regime which followed it. All these had thelr effect in creating
excitement in Sind as elsewhere. -

Agitation in Conunection with the Punjab Troubles

From this time onwards for the rest of the year, the agitators had ample
materials to exaggerate, misrepresent and generally work up into
agitation and propaganda. Among others were the so-called ‘atrocities’
committed in the Punjab during the Martial Law regime, the Indemnity Act
and the proceedings of the Hunter Committee and the Punjab Sub-
Committee of the Indian National Congress. In meetings held in most

of the 1mp0rtant towns of Sind, agitators took full advantage of the

situation to protest lndlgnantly and to disseminate sedition.

Sixth. Sind Provincial (Congress) Conference at Jacobabad

The All India Congress Committee’s resolution regarding Martial Law
in the Punjab was generally accepted and the idea of an unarmed India
“rebelling .against the mnation which had conquered Germany was
ridiculed. Collections were made for the ‘Punjab Relief Fund.’ Perhaps the

13
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most important of these meetings was the series held at Jacobabad
between the 15th-17th April known as the 6th Sind Provincial (Congress)

Conference at Jacobabad presided over by Mr. Jamshed N. R. Mehta,
‘an ardent Besantine. '

Jacobabad was apparently chosen with some idea of arousing enthu-
siasm in the uneducated Baluchis, a very conservative and distinctly
feudal people. ~

Of the resolutions passed, the first expressing regret atthe disturbances
in the Punjab aroused but little interest. It was followed by one on passive
resistance which gave Dr. Choithram P. Gidwani, who moved it, the
opportunity of making an objectionable speech in which he expressed
himself on the following lines :—

‘“The tyrants intend to give us nothing. We have been under them
for 150 years and now we must free ourselves. The question is whether
this should be done by resolution or by murdering the ““Naukar Sahabs”’
or by peaceful methods. Gandhi recommends peaceful methods.
Well, Gandhi is our leader and we must obey him. But I cannot say I
agree with him”.

A resolution on Hindu-Muslim unity was introduced by Mukhi Jetha-
nand who, in his enthusiasm, declared that he was in heart, if notin fact
a Mussalman. The representative character of the resolution was greatly
lessened by the noticeably small number of Mussalmans who were
present.

On a resolution on Swadeshi, Dr. Choithram and Narsinglal made
objectionable remarks. The latter drawing his inspiration from history,
attempted to prove that the English were “Pucca banias’® and bent on the
financial ruin of the country.

Supporting a resolution on the principle of ‘self determination’, Dr.
Choithram made an impassioned appeal exhorting the audience ‘to wake
up and act.’ '

Naturally the cumulative effect of the violent expressions used by
such speakers as Choithram and Narsinglal had its effect on the audience
and a certain amount of anti-British feeling appeared in some of the
remarks made by those present such as its contrary to the religion of
the English to keep their promises.

14
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G. M. Bhurgri who had attended the Conference was greatly disappoin-
ted at the indifference of the Baluch zamindars of this Frontier
district who regarded the conference as one of banias and pleaders, both
classes that are held in contempt by these old fashioned landowners.
Bhurgri and the other agitators, however very naturally attributed the
‘aloofness of the Baluchls to oﬁimal pressure

Preventlve Measures in Sind

The. authorities feeling that some check was needed were not slow to
act once they realised the nature and trend of the agitation. In April
when Hariram Dayaram Mariwala published and Durgdas Bhojraj
Advani printed an English pamphlet entitled the ‘ New Call”> exhort-
ing the people to prepare for “Satyagraha’ led by Gandhi, proceedings
were instituted against both under section 124-A, Indian Penal Code, and
each was convicted and sentenced to 2 years rigorous imprisonment and
Rs. 1,000 fine.

About this time a complaint under sections 117, 141, 147 Indian Penal
Code, was registered by the Hyderabad police against Ghulam Mahomed
Bhurgri, Jethmal Parsram Gulrajani, Dr. Choithram P. Gidwani, Jawhar-
mal Totiram Mansukhani al/ias Swami Govindanand, Shaikh Abdul
Majid and Mukhi Jethanand for illegal acts done on the ‘Hartal’ day
(6th April), acts which were the direct result of a meetlng held at Bhurgri’s
oﬁice to organlse the ‘Harral’.

In connection Wlth thlS case, in addition to the houses of the above
persons, the offices of the Indian Home Rule League, All India Home
Rule lL.eague and Brahmacharya Ashram, the house and office of Nur
Mahomed, pleader, and the house of Ghanshamdas Jethanand Shivdasani
were searched but nothing incriminating was found. Mukhi Jethanand,
Jethmal Parsram’ Gulrajam 'Dr. Choithram P. Gidwani and Shalkh
Abdul Majid, were arrested and released on bail. Bhurgri who was'a way
at the ‘ume could not be arrested These searches and arrests, it is reported;
caused a certain amount of excitement but a greater amount of fear at
the time. Eventually, however for administrative reasons further action
was dropped.

15



Suspension of Satyagraha

P-xn indication that Sind was not ready for Sazyagraha and that the
action of the authorities had given pause to the leaders may be found
in the following two facts :— -

In the first place on April 15th, 1919, Ghulam Mahomed Bhurgri
(since deceased) sent the following wire to Gandhi :—

“Country awaiting your decision to keep on the passive resistance
after the serious situation created in the country. Doubt if it is good
for our case™.

He received a reply from Umer Sobhani as follows :—

“Mahatmaji Ahmedabad forwarding telegram. He has issued
instructions regarding demonstration. Advises temporary
suspension. Sending copies instructions.”

The second indication is the fact that certain politicians, presumably
because they did not agree with the revolutionary trend of Mr. Gandhi’s.
efforts to rouse India resigned their membership of the All India Home
Rule League, then under Gandhi’s domination.

Khilafat Question

The first All India Khilafat Conference which was held at Delhi on
November 23rd, 1919, thanked Gandhi and other Hindus for their
interest in the Khilafat question. The Conference also enjoined upon
Indian Mussalmans to refrain from participating in the victory celebra-
tions and in the event of a satisfactory settlement of the Turkish question
not being effected, progressively to withhold all co-operation from the
British. Government and to boycott British goods. The agitation received
a fillip by the release of the Ali Brothers in December 1919. Rumours
about the severe nature of the terms proposed to Turkey were prevalent
and Muslim opinion was greatly disturbed. M. K. Gandhi was not slow
to see in this an excellent opportunity of making common cause with the
Mussalmans and on the 10th March 1920 issued the following manifesto:—

““The Khilafé.t.question has now become a question of questions.
It has become an imperial question of the first magnitude.

16
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The great Prelates of England and the Mahomedan leaders combined
have brought the question to the fore. The Prelates threw down the
challenge. The Muslim leaders have taken it up.

I trust that the Hindus will realise that the Khilafat question over-
shadows the reforms and everything else.

If the Muslim claim was unjust, apart from the Muslim scriptures,
one might hesitate to support it merely on scriptural authority. But
when a just claim is supported by scriptures, it becomes irresistible.

Briefly put, the claim is that the Turks should retain European Turkey
subject to full guarantees for the protection of non-Muslim races under
the Turkish Empire and that the Su/ran should control the Holy places
of Islam and should have suzerainty over Jaziratul-Arab, 7. e¢., Arabia as
.defined by the Muslim Savants, subject to self-governing rights being
given to the Arabs if they so desire. This was what was promised by
Mr. Lloyd George and this was what Lord Hardinge had contemplated.
The Mahomedan soldiers would not have fought to deprive Turkey of
her possessions. To deprive the Khalifa of the suzerainty of Arabia is
to reduce the Khilafat to a nullity.

To restore to Turkey, subject to necessary guarantees, what was hers
before war is a Christian solution. To wrest any of her possessions from
her for the sake of punishing her is 2 gunpowder solution. The Allies or_
England in the hour of triumph must be scrupulously just. To reduce
the Turks to impotence would be not only unjust. It would be a breach
of solemn declarations and promises. It is to be wished that the Viceroy
will take his courage in both his hands and place himself at the head of
the Khilafat agitation as Lord Hardinge did at the time of the South
African ‘passive-resistance’ struggle and thus, like his predecessor,
give a clear and emphatic direction to an agitation which under impulsive
or faulty leadership, may lead to disastrous consequences.

But the situation rests more with us Hindus and Mahomedans than
with the Viceroy and still more with the Muslim leaders than with the

Hindus or the Viceroy.
Bk) R 5-2

17



10

There are signs already of impatience on the part of Muslim friends,
and impatience may any day be reduced to madness and the latter must
inevitably lead to violence. And I wish I could persuade every one to
see that violence is suicide.

Supposing the Muslim demands are not granted by the Allies or say
England ! I see nothing but hope in Mr. Montagu’s brave defence of the
Muslim position and Mr. Lloyd George’s interpretation of his own decla-
ration. True the latter is halting but he can secure full justice under it.
But we must suppose the worst and expect and strive for the best. How
to strive is the question.

What we may not do is clear enough :
(1) There should be no violence in thought, speech or deed.

(2) Therefore there should be no boycott of British goods, by way
of revenge or punishment. Boycott in my opinion, is a form of
violence. Moreover, even if it were desirable, it is totally impra-
cticable. '

(3) There should be no rest till the minimum is achieved.

(4) There should be no mixing up of other questions with the Khilafat
e. g., the Egyptian question.

I_et us see what must be done :—

The cessation of business on the 19th instant and expression of the
minimum demands by means of one single resolution is a necessary
first step provided that the ‘harral’ is absolutely voluntary and the emplo-
yees are not asked to leave their work unless they received permission
from their employers. I would strongly urge that the mill-hands should
be left untouched. The further provision is that there should be no violence
accompanying the karral. T have been often told that the C. I. D. some-
times promote violence. I do not believe in it as a general charge. But
even if it be true, our discipline should make it impossible. Our success
depends solely on our ability to control, guide and discipline the masses.

Now a word as to what may be done if the demands are not granted.
The barbarous method is warfare, open or secret. This must be ruled

18
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out if only because it is impracticable. If I could but persuade every
one that it is always bad, we should gain all lawful ends much quicker.
The power that an individual or a nation forswearing violence generates
is a power that is irresistible. But my argument to-day against violence
is based upon pure expediency, 7. e., its utter futility.

Non-co-operation is, therefore, the only remedy left open to us. It is
the cleanest remedy as it is the most effective, when it is absolutely free
from all violence. It becomes a duty when co-operation means degrada-
tion or humiliation or an injury to one’s cherished religious sentiment.
England cannot accept a meek submission by us to an unjust usurpation
of rights which to Mussalmans mean a matter of life and death. We may,
therefore, begin at the top as also at the bottom. Those who are holding
offices of honour or emolument ought to give them up. Those who belong
to themenial services under Government should do likewise. Non-co-opera-
tion does not apply to services under private individuals. I cannot approve
of the threat of ostracism against those who do not adopt the remedy of
Non-co-operation. It is only a voluntary withdrawal which is effective.
For voluntary withdrawal alone is a test of popular feeling and dissa-
tisfaction. Advice to the soldiers to refuse to serve is premature. It is
the last, not the first step. We should be entitled to take that step when
the Viceroy, the Secretary of State and the Premier leave us. Moreover,
every step in withdrawing co-operation has to be taken with the greatest
deliberation. We must proceed slowly so as to ensure retention of self-
control under the fiercest heat.

Many look upon the Calcutta resolutions with the deepest alarm. They
scent in them a preparation for violence. I do not look upon them in
that light, though I do not approve of the tone of some of them. I have
already mentioned those whose subject-matter I wholly dislike.

““Can Hindus accept all the resolutions * is the question addressed
by some. I can only speak for myself. I will co-operate whole-heartedly
with the Muslim friends in the prosecution of their just demands so
long as they act with sufficient restraint and so long as I feel sure that
they do not wish to resort to or countenance violence. 1 should cease
to co-operate and advise every Hindu and for that matter every one
else to cease to co-operate, the moment there was violence actually
done, advised or countenanced. I would, therefore, urge upon all

19
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speakers the exercise of the greatest restraint under the greatest provoca-
tion. There is certainty of victory if firmness is combined with gentle-
ness. The cause is doomed if anger, hatred, ill-will, recklessness and
finally violence are to reign supreme. I shall resist them with my life
even if I should stand alone. My goal is friendship with the world and
I can combine the greatest love with the great (greatest ?) opposition

to wrong.”

Anti-peace Celebrations Campaign

Following the lead of the first All India Khilafat Conference held at
Delhi in November 1919 under the presidency of M. K. Gandhi there
was started in Sind the samemonth an anti-Peace Celebrations Campaign
by means of meetings, distributing leaflets, posting notices and articles
in the Press, reminding the people of their duties towards their religion
and country. The celebrations, however, passed off peacefully in Sind.
But there was a very general absence of enthusiasm. In some places in
the province there were anti-celebrations processions and in Karachi
the Khalikadina Hall was draped in black by agitators. Many of the
speeches and much of the printed matter was of a very objectionable
nature, though the greatest care was taken to represent the whole agita-
tion as purely religious in origin-the Musalmans broken by sorrow at
the fate of their Khilafat and wholly incapable of rejoicing and the Hindus
compelled by brotherly love and sympathy also to remain aloof.

Punjab Congress Sub-committee, 1919-1920

Agitation on the platform and in the Press all over India finally
resulted in the appointment in October 1919 of the Hunter Committee
to enquire into the Punjab disturbances. About the same time the All
India Congress Committee appointed a Sub-Committee including Gandhi
to lead evidence before the Government Committee but when the Presi-
dent of the latter refused to accede to the demand that the release of
those arrested in connection with the disturbances should be a preliminary
to the enquiry, the Congress Sub-Committee decided to have nothing
further to do with the Hunter Committee but to make independent
enquiries. The Congress Sub-Committee’s report was published on the

26th March 1920.
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As might be expected the findings of the Congress and the¥Hunter
Committees did not agree. Agitators naturally preferred the former and
this difference of opinion served but as an excuse for further anti-Govern-
ment propaganda. This took the form of supporting the Congress Commi-
ttee’s view, condemning the majority report of the Hunter Committee,
demanding the impeachment of Sir Michael O’Dwyer, General Dyer
and others and advocating a refusal to welcome H. R. H. the Prince
of Wales whose visit toc India was being mooted.

Rise of Sind Muslim Interest in Agitation, November-December 1919

In November 1919 the first All India Khilafat Conference at Delhi
attracted a number of Mussalmans from Sind mainly Firs and other
religiously inclined persons. It had the effect of putting them against
Government which was held to be responsible for all the alleged Khilafat
wrongs. At the same time it interested Sind Mussalmans in agitation in
general and was the direct cause of the large attendance from Sind at the
Indian National Congress at Amritsar during X’ mas week in 1919. The
Ali Brothers who had been released in December 1919 were an additional
attraction. A special train carried the Sind visitors who came back parti-
cularly roused, especially the Muslim element, by the speeches, many
of them violent, made by leading agitators especially the Ali Brothers.

During the same period, in addition to the Congress, there was a session
of the Muslim League and a Khilafat Conference. Motilal Nehru presided
over the Congress, Hakim Ajmal Khan over the All India Muslim League
and Shaukatali over the All India Khilafat Conference.

Two Sindhis, quite a departure for this time, viz.,, Mahomed Khan
Ghazi Khan and Shaikh Abdul Majid took a small part in the Congress.

Tilak in Sind

Bal Gangadhar Tilak’s visit to Sind during the last week of March
1920 did much to encourage agitation. He visited Hyderabad, Sukkur,
Shikarpur and Karachi, and at most places processions and meetings

were arranged in his honour. About ten thousand rupees were presented
to him in Sind, out of which rupees five hundred were given by him to

the branches of the Indian Home Rule League in Sind, one hundred to
the National College at Hyderabad, while the remainder was earmarked
by him for propaganda in England. During his tour he spoke on Hindu-
Muslim unity and criticised Government generally.
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Seventh Sind Provincial (Congress) Conference at Sukkur,April 1920

Up to the present the Congress organisation in Sind had been predo-
minantly Hindu but this was an obvious anomaly in a province in which
Mussalmans were in a large majority, especially in Upper Sind, and the
agitators, fully aware of this, made efforts to attract Muslims. In 1919
with some such idea the previous Conference had been held in Upper-Sind
(Jacobabad) and this year again the same idea seems to have led to Sukkur
being chosen. This time, however, the organisers went further and elected
as president a Mussalman, Haji Abdullah Haroon, a prominent Khilafa-
tist sugar merchant of Karachi.

The conference, held from the 2nd to the 5th of April, produced but
poor results and scarcely advanced the cause of the agitators any more
than the one held the previous year.

Resolutions among others were passed recommending the sanction of
Horniman’s return to India, the repeal of the Rowlatt Act and the release
of all political prisoners. In addition sympathy with the Khilafat agita-
tion was expressed and a vote of thanks to the Punjab Disturbances
Congress Enquiry Sub-Committee passed.

The main historical interest of this conference lies in the dissensions
which were manifested between the different parties who had come
together to hold it.

In the subjects committee a proposal to welcome the Prince of Wales
was lost by the casting vote of Haji Abdullah Haroon but the Besantine
party headed by Jamshed N. R. Mehta and supported by most of the
members from Hyderabad insisted on bringing the subject up again with
a threat that they would otherwise leave the conference in a body. The
resolution was eventually passed. Lokram Nainaram Sharma, Editor
of the Hindu of Hyderabad, a man of somewhat violent temperament
objected openly and demanded that his dissent should be recorded.

Another resolution which resulted in some discussion asked Govern-
ment to open an Arts and Agricultural College in Upper Sind. The Hydera-
bad delegates were strongly in favour of their own town being selected as
the most suitable location for it but were eventually overruled, with the
result that several of those from Hyderabad, headed by Gopaldas Jhamat-
mal left the conference in disgust.
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The last resolution, thanking Mr. Montagu for the reforms but
condemning them as inadequate and disappointing did mnot come
before the meeting till 9 p. m. on the last day leaving no time for adequate
discussion. The Tilakites would naturally be in favour and the Besantines
gave indications of support but the President declared that so many
amendments (there were four in effect) had been suggested that it would be
impossible to deal with the matter properly. Thisled toan uproar during
which Lokram N. Sharma climbed on to the paltform to fight with the
President while Harchandrai Vishindas, J. T. Mansukhani ( alias
Govindanand) and Lalchand A. Jagtiani who followed him also added to
the confusion. Volunteers attempted to clear the Hall but the audience
showed no desire to leave. The President, however, brought the real
conference to a precipitated end by disappearing through a back door.

This sudden dissolution and the tumult that followed led to much
discussion in Sind at meetings and in the press. It was alleged that the Presi-
dent had allowed himself to become the tool of an influential majority.
As a matter of fact the resolution had been rejected by a majority in the
subjects committee but the minority being more than one-third of those
present had claimed their privilege of sending a requisition to the Presi-
dent that the resolution should be put up for discussion in the open
conference. The President delayed his ruling on this until 7-30 p. m. on
the last day. This, added to his declaration when the resolution came
up that there was not sufficient time for an adequate discussion of it and
the four amendments, was adversely criticised and he was alleged to
have adopted these tactics at the instigation of Jairamdas and
Harchandrai. It was argued that his proper course in the circumstances
would have been to prolong the conference another day for the discussion
of so important a matter.

What the Conference showed

The President replied to these arguments by saying he was not an
experienced politician and not being well-versed in the Congress consti-
tution and rules had had, after considerable delay to obtain a copy of
them:. This alone delayed his ruling. He excused his hurried departure
on the plea that under the circumstances it was the only course left open
to him. The conference disclosed the existence of three parties among
the Sind politicians.
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In the first place there was the Khilafatist group which included all
the Mussalmans. This was perhaps the most disaffected and at times
came nearest to open disloyalty. Its members were against welcoming
the Prince of Wales. The resolution on this subject, as already mentioned,
failed to secure a majority in the subjects committee and it was only
passed eventually in the conference when the bulk of the Mussalmans
were absent attending a Muslim League meeting.

The second party comprised the Tilakites who condemned the reforms
as inadequate and were strongly opposed to the bureaucracy. Most of
the Shikarpur delegates belonged to this, in addition to the Karachi and
Hyderabad leaders of the Indian (Tilak’s) Home Rule League, such as
Swami Govindanand, Durgdas Bhojraj Advani, Hariram Dayaram

Mariwala, Lokram Nainaram Sharma, Lalchand Amardinomal Jagtian
and others.

Finally there was the Besantine party which at this time represented
the most moderate opinion. Among its well-known adherents were
Jamshed Nussarwanji R. Mehta, Santdas Mangharam, Jairamdas
Daulatram and Karamchand Gurumukhdas.

Bhurgri was frankly disgusted with the whole conference declaring
that it showed their complete unfitness for self-government. During April
Bhurgri identified himself with Gandhi’s All India Home Rule League
of which he became Vice-President.

Temperance Propaganda

Temperance formed part of the subsequent Non-co-operation move-
ment and Sind began to take an interest in it about this time.

Along with the political conference (Congress) a Temperance Conference

was held, also at Sukkur, on the 4th and 5th April 1920, with Professor
T. L. Vaswani as president.

National Week, 6th—13th April 1920

In accordance with Gandhi’s instructions a national week, from the
6th to 13th April, was observed in all the principal towns of Sind in
remembrance of the Jallianwala Bagh incident. This took the form
mainly of meetings in many of which rousing and often objectionable
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speeches were made, stereotyped resolutions passed and photos of those
killed at the Bagh exhibited. Advantage was taken of the enthusiasm
thus engendered to collect for the Punjab Relief Fund and for a Jallian-

wala Bagh Memorial. For the latter Hyderabad alone is reported to have
subscribed Rs. 10,000.

Although Gandhi had stipulated that no bitter or violent language
should be used at the meetings many irresponsible persons, some of
them paid propagandists whose living depended on the excitement they

aroused to bring in money for the various funds from which they were
paid, ignored this stipulation. '

The following extracts indicate the nature of such speeches :—

“Indians have been troubled by these people ever since they came to
India. Their policy seems to be to keep Indians under bondage and to
rule over the country. The Royal Proclamation of 1858 did India no
good. It only promised justice and said nothing about Swaragj. The
Royal Proclamation of 1917 was better because it gave freedom and
reforms. The King has been brought to see that Swargjis India’s right.
The King told his bureaucracy to help India to get Swaraj. Therefore, to
ask for Swaraj is to be loyal to the King. Those who do not ask for
Swaraj are liable to be prosecuted for sedition. You must know that
we have taken Swaraj forcibly from the King. If you take a currency
note and get a shopkeeper to change it for you, you may thank him, but
really he did you no favour; he was bound to change the note. In the
same way Englishmen were bound to give us Swaraj. Remember that
the credit for this Proclamation should not be given to the bureaucracy
or to Mr. Montagu. It is our agitation that has brought it about.
Remember also that if there had been no ‘oppression in India there
would have been no trouble in Europe to-day. On account of the
oppression in India God ordered a great war and Germany by waging
war gave us an opportunity for Swaraf. The bureaucracy, however,
would like to cheat God. During the war they promised us Swara;j,
they have broken their promise and cheated God. If Dyer had done
in England what he had done in the Punjab, I am certain that English-
men would have bombed him. I warn Englishmen that if they do
not give us Swaraj now, there will again be big war in Europe. God is
restless and will not put up with more oppression. We request them to
give us Swaraj and so avoid another war.”
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s« You must know that there are two parties now. One consists of
flatterers and the other of fighters. We terrified the Englishmen by
means of Satyagraha. Satyagraha is a useful weapon. Remember that
the bureaucracy will tempt you in many ways in carrying out the
reforms, but you must bear in mind that nothing has been ‘given to
you. You cannot cancel the Press Act; until you can, everything is

wrong.”’

«In the Sukkur Conference the most important question of all,
namely, the reforms was not taken up at all. Self-seeking people
wasted time over resolutions about Hurs and the like. Be careful to
whom you give your vote. Send good quarrelsome men to the
Legislative Council so that they can fight for the good of India. Send

up fighting cocks and you are sure to get Swaraj.”’

“What we want is that England should have a President like other
countries. The peace terms for Germany and all other countries were
decided in France. Why they go to England to decide the peace terms
for Turkey ? The English have been putting off and putting off the
decision and finally on the 31st March they decided that the Turks
should be driven out of Constantinople. The English are our enemies
and we should treat them as we treat enemies. When the English
entered India they promised not to touch our holy places. In the times
of Queen Victoria and Edward VII they kept this promise, but now
in the reign of George V they have broken it.

Seth Naraindas of Shikarpur

The Police, Military and Civil officials ought to resign to bring the
English to the point. If that fails then let zamindars refuse to pay land
assessiment. Everyone should have his own rule.

M. A. Akhtar (Probably Amanullah Xhan of the * Daily Gazertte >’

The English say the Turks are cruel assassins, but I say that they' are
not half as cruel as General Dyer but if they kill us we shall become

martyrs.
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The following handbill in English, Urdu and Guajrati was distributed

in Karachi on the 9th April 1920 —

¢ INDIA’S NATIONAL MEMORIAL ?
Wanted Rs. 10 lakhs for Jallianwala
SIND TO SUBSCRIBE Rs. 50,000

Fellow Countrymen,

We are collecting during the National Week (6th to 13th April)
half a lakh of rupees for the National Memorial at Jallianwala
(Amritsar) rich in its sacred association of Hindu-Muslim unity and
sacrifice. Mahatma Gandhi and other leaders have appealed to us to
contribute our share. Shall we not respond to the appeal ? The memo-
rial will pass down to future generations as the symbol of a tragedy
in which the blood of peaceful and law abiding Indians Hindu and
Muslim, men, women and children flowed together in one holy stream
of sacrifice. To such a memorial, which should in no case be associated
with any thought of hate or ill-will, it is our earnest desire that every
citizen, every man, woman, and child of whatever class or community,
should contribute something-no matter how little. Our purpose is not
to depend solely on those who can contribute large amounts but to
meet every person in the street we can; the least gifts will be most grate-
fully received. When you meet our volunteers pray do not pass them
by. Give them something in his name and in the name of India—in the
last instance a pie. If your friend or neighbour or companion or anyone
who may happen to be with you has nothing with him, give something
for him. Remember you can always give something for the unity and
welfare of India. Do give something which helps in the raising of a
shrine meant to be a national temple for the whole of India. We ask
the very poorest to participate in the building of the temple, and there-
fore so feel himself to be a part of the nation. Remember your duty to
vour country and the innocent ones who died.

N. B.—Only those volunteers who have cards signed by the Secre-
tary should be recognised as bonafide volunteers authorised to collect
money.

Your Comrades in the one service.
Karachi Collection Committee, Jallianwala Memorial.
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The following translation of a leaflet circulated by the Chairman ol
the Congress Committee, Sukkur, is also of interest :—

““Ten lacs as charity for Jallianwala Bagh, Shahid Ganj

OUR MAHATMA GANDHI

Under the orders of General Dyer thousands of Hindus and
Mussalmans have been killed and wounded in Amristar Jallian-
wala Bagh, whose blood has been mixed with the dust and has
made the strong knot of union. This incident in Amritsar took place
on the 13th April, on the day of Vaishakhi. Now our men who have
love for their country want to build a ¢ Shahid Ganj’ in Jallianwalz
Bagh. Mahatma Gandhi, Tilak, Pandit Madan Mohan Malaviya,
Swami Shraddhanand and others have been collecting subscriptiois
and by May 10 lacs are to be collected. Mahatma Gandhi has
ordered specially to collect this subscription in this National
Week and this Naticnal Week is to be observed {rom the 6th
to the 13th April 1920 so that there may not be again blood-
shed in India. On the 13th April on Tuesday there will be a
big meeting at 8 p. m. near Nim Maidan under the manageme:’
of Congress leaders. All the Hindus and the Muslims shoulc
unite together, collect subscriptions from every street, fron
every house, from every shop and bring the money to the
public meeting or on Tuesday. For Hindus to-morrow i
Vaishakhi day and therefore they should take a bath and give ir
charity. The volunteers and the Committee appointed on the
9th should go round old Sukkur and Rohri and collect subscrip-
tions from women, men and children. More or less whatever
each can spare should be begged. Come Hindus and Muslina:
help us because in the conference Sukkur has given a very smal
amount. Those who have promised to give, should send the
amount and others should help us. Bring money by means o:
begging for Jallianwala Bagh so that it may be a memorial foi
India. Sind has to pay half a lac and Sukkur has to pay five
thousand.

11th April, 1920. (Sd.) VIRUMAL BEGRAJ,
Chairman, Congress Committee, Sukkur.’
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The Formal Adoption of Gandhi’s Non-Co-Operation Proposals

Gandhi had steadily been making progress with the Muslim
community. He apparently realised that without a union of the
two great communities and a united front against Government
little could be accomplished. Non-co-operation with Government, but
without any particular emphasis on non-violence, had its attrac-
tions probably because it foreshadowed a tangible form of resistance
to the much abused Government the people had been taught to
hate as being responsible for all their ills.

The Muslims discussed it at a Central Khilafat Committee
meeting between the 11th and 14th April but did not definitely
adopt it, but in accordance with Gandhi’s suggestion, decided to go
in for propaganda to popularise the idea in case it should be
needed. Subsequently on the 14th May the Turkish Peace "Terms
were published and failed to satisfy the Mahomedans with the
result that the Central Khilafat Committee on the 28th May
hurriedly acopted the Non-co-operation proposals. This was
cenfirmed by the All India Khilafat Conference at Allahabad
during the first week of June 1920.

The proposals adopted were as follows :—
(a) Resignation of honours, titles and honorary offices.

(b) Resignation of all services with Europeans excluding army
and police.

(c) Resignation of service in army and police.
(d) Refusal to pay taxes.

A Sub-Committee, consisting of Gandhi, Maulana Abul Kalam
Azad, Shaukatali, Maulvi Mahomed Ali ( not the Maulana ),
Dr. Kitchlew, Hasrat Mochani and Ahmed Haji Siddik Khatri, was
appointed to give effect to the resolution.

Sind was represented at the Conference by Thanwardas Lilaram
Vaswani, Dr. Choithram Partabrai Gidwani, Shaikh Abdul Majid,
Jairamdas Daulatram Alimchandani and Haji Abdullah Haroon.
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A number of leading Hindus specially invited were present but
while some approved of the idea in theory they foresaw difficulties
in its application and especially did they mistrust the Muslim
attitude as revealed at the Conference. After it was over Jairamdas
Daulatram Alimchandani in a letter to Shaukatali indicated this
when he accused a leading Mussalman of having supplied the
press with a carefully censored and misleading account of the
Conference in that he had suppressed all mention of the discus-
sion in which the Muslims had even gone so far as to welcome
an Afghan invasion, had ignored Gandhi’s claim to dictatorship
and had declared that in the event of Muslim response to the
second stage being unsatisfactory he would abandon the Non-co-
operation scheme.

The Hindus possibly on account of Tilak’s influence since he
was opposed to the idea, were more cautious, but in a meeting
of the AIll India Congress Committee at Benares on the 30th May
1920 it was decided that a special session of the Congress should
be convened to comnsider Gandhi’s programme.

During the first week in July the above Khilafat Sub-Committee
published in Bombay the following manifesto —

“ Many questions have been asked of the MNon-co-operation
Committee as to its expectations and the methods to be adopted
for a beginning. The Non-co-operation Committee wish it to be
understood that while they expect everyone to respond to their
recommendations to the full, they are desirous of carrying the
weakest members also with them. The Committee want to
enlist passive sympathy, if not the active co-operation, of the
whole of the country in methods of Non-co-operation. Those
therefore who cannot undergo physical sacrifice will help by
contributing funds or labour to the movement. Should Non-co-
operation become necessary, the Committee has decided upon the
following as part of the first stage :—

(1) Non-participation in Government loans.

(2) Surrender of all titles of honour and honorary offices.
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Suspensmn by lawyers of practice and settlement of civil
disputes by private arbitration.

Boycott of Government schools by parents.
Boycott of Reformed Councils.

Non-—participation in Government parties and such other
functions.

Refusal to accept any civil or military post in Mesopo-
tamia or to offer as units for the army especially for

service in Turkish territories now being administered in
violation of pledges.

Vigorous prosecution of Swadeshi inducing people at
the time of this national awakening to appreciate their
national duties to their country by being satisfied with
its own productions and manufactures. Swadeshi must
be pushed without waiting for the Ist of August, for it
is an eternal rule of conduct not to be interrupted even
when settlement arrives. In order not to commit them-
selves people will refrain now from taking service either
civil or military. They will also suspend taking Government
loans, new or old. For the rest it should be remembered
that Non-co-operation does not commence before the 1st
August 1920. Every effort is being and will still be made
to avoid resort to any serious breach with Government
by urging His Majesty’s Ministers to secure revision of
Treaty which has been so universally condemned. Those
who realise their responsibility and the gravity of course
will not act independently but in consort with the com-
mittee. Success depends entirely upon discipline and
concerted Non-co-operation and the latter is dependent

upon strict obedience ‘to instructions, calmness and absolute
freedom from violence. >

Gujarat Sabha in Karachi, Jaly 1920

The Gujaratis living in Karachi started in July 1920 a Gujarat
Sabha to spread Gandhi’s ideas and to open branches of his Vldya
Pith for juvenile education.
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Gandhi’s visit to Sind, July 1920

Having launched, largely with the aid of Mussalmans his Non-
co-operation movement, Gandhi took an early opportunity of
visiting Sind, a predominantly Muslim province. He came in July
1920, but prior to this both Muslims and Hindus had since
May, when the Treaty of Sevres was published, been working up
agitation condemning its terms, and so prepared the way for his
visit. - .

Accompanied by Shaukatali, Dr. Kitchlew, Saraladevi Chaudhrani
and Jawaharlal Nehru he arrived in Karachi on the 22nd July
from the direction of Lahore. The train. ( Punjab Mail ) happened
to be running 12 hours late which interfered somewhat with the
reception arrangements at Karachi where the train due in the
morning actually arrived late at night. Nevertheless some 5,000
were actually present to meet them and to such an extent did
they let their enthusiasm run away with them that eventually they
had to be practically dispersed by railway servants and police before
the visitors could leave the station. Outside a procession was
formed and taken through the principal streets, decorated in places,
to the Idgah Maidan where at midnight a meeting was held.

Gandhi made a stay at only two places in Sind, namely, Karachi
and Hyderabad, but was received enthusiastically at both. A little
incident at Karachi serves to show the effect his presence caused
on the students of the D. J. Sind College who, annoyed at their
Principal’s refusal to allow them to invite Gandhi to address them
held a protest meeting in the Burns Garden adjoining the College.
Instead of describing in detail the visit it will suffice for our
purpose to indicate the nature of his speeches. Throughout he
stressed the beauty of spiritual as opposed to physical power,
freedom for the motherland, justice for the Punjab oppression and
a revision of the Xhilafat (Sevres Treaty) decision.

The following extract from his speech in Karachi on the 23rd
July 1920 is of interest :—

“In the first place, I want to inform: all my brethren that the
doctrine of Non-co-operation will be putinto force .from the 1st
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of August 1920. What course we shall have to follow from 1st
August, I am not going to narrate before you now. Pamphlets and
notices have already been issued. I will only tell my Mahomedan
brethren at this moment that if they are desirous to solve
this Khilafat question by the doctrine of Non-co-operation, then
they will have to work peacefully, silently, putting their sword in the
sheath and refraining from giving any assistance whatsoever to
Government. Moreover they will have to stock the greatest possible
power of sacrifice. Even if every man is being imprisoned and
sent to jail, patience of mind must not be lost. The Secretary
of State for India has announced in the House of Commons that
Gandhi has gone mad and that the freedom which was given
to Gandhi last year, should be withheld at this moment. To-day
our hands and feet are chained. So long as thereis a religious mis-
fortune upon my Mahomedan brethren, and so long as the zuw/um
practised in the Punjab is not removed, I consider myself to be
in jail without having even a single moment of freedom. ( Cries
of Allah ~o0— Akbar.) Jail will become for me a royal place, if
Government desire to send me to jail or if Government hang
me, then I desire to express my congratulations on their action. I
also request you to congratulate me, as I am ready to die for
the Khilafat question along with my Mahomedan brethren ( Al/ah—
o—Akbar ). I want to be congratulated by you at that time when
God gives me an opportunity of proving myself as I have said
above. When you congratulate me, you must not get annoyed,
but on the contrary you must say it to yourselves and reflect
what great power you possess when you see that a Hindu is
prepared to go to jail for your religion. ( Allah—o-Akbar ) 1
therefore want to request you brethren in this manner and pray to
God to fill your hearts with such a great power that you will at
once be ready to go to jail, to resign all your posts, to
desist from helping the Government, and to consider it your duty to
suppress all anger, if you find you are excited, and not to let
anger come out of your hearts, and to pray to God to give you
peace of mind, to give you a Gandhi-like power, so that you may
be able to do what Gandhi is doing. May God give you such peace
of mind that even if you see that your brother is being sent to
jail, you will not get excited and neither draw sword on any

(BK) R 5-3
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Fnglishman nor abuse him : but on the contrary you will tell the
Englishmen that from that date you will not be prepared to give
any assistance to Government. Then and then alone, you will at
once understand and you will possess, such a great power, that
the Khilafat question will at once be settled in your favour. If
vou become mad and begin to shed blood, then aeroplanes will
surround you from all sides and machine guns will be used. I am
not sure that you possess such a great power that even in the
face of death you will not leave the Khilafat question unsettled
but only so long as there are no aeroplanes and machine guns.
They will only send you to jails and you should try to fill their
jails and you should hate their service and hate their everything. You
should fill your stomachs through the money of your brothers
and not through the money of Government. I do not desire
to express my views on the question of Hijrat just at present.
Our brother, Shaukatali, is discussing the question of Hijrat with
me and I only want to say now that Hijrat can be worked out
along with the docirine of Non-co-operation and that you should
remain silent until you hear from us in this connection. If you
have fully understood the doctrine of Non-co-operation, then you
can easily reach and solve this question by following this doctrine.
If you are unable to bear the hardships of Non-co-operation, if
you cannot withdraw your monetary assistance while sitting in this
country, if you cannot stop your anger and if you are ready to
commit bloodshed, then it will be advisable for you to make
Hijrat. I cannot speak any more to-day and I pray to God to
give you advice, power and strength and the power of sacrificing
that you may make use of this doctrine of Non-co-operation with
such enthusiasm from 1st of August 1920 and to such an extent
that we may attain success in the Khilafat question. ( God may
compensate you, Allah—o-Akber from the audience). ™

At Hyderabad on the 24th he laid special stress on Swadeshi.

As his visit was mainly in connection with Khilafat propaganda
it will be dealt with more fully in the Khilafat portion of this report.

The party broke up in Hyderabad, Shaukatali and XKitchlew
leaving for Multan on the 24th and Gandhi for Ahmedabad on the 25th.
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Tilak’s Death, 31st July 1920

Tilak died at Bombay on the 31st July 1920 and as a sign of
mourning a ° Aartal > was observed in Hyderabad on the 2nd August
1920. Meetings were held for the same purpose in the principal
towns in Sind at which people were advised in accordance with
the Congress suggestion not to celebrate Dival/i as the country was
in mourning. Hindus and Mussalmans joined 1in threatening to
ostracise all who did not adopt the advice.

In Shikarpur on the 9th November a locally printed hand-bill
showed that this agitation had developed further since the reason
therein given for not observing Divali was that if they ate sweets
on this occasion it would be as reprehensible as if they had taken
beef. Other leaflets for the same purpose but giving as reasons
the death of Tilak and the Punjab ¢ Murders > also came to notice.

Protest against Turkish peace terms

In the first week of July the Central Khilafat Committee ordered
a * Hartal’ to be observed on August 1st 1920, as a protest
against the Turkish Peace Terms and this was partially observed
in the principal towns in Sind.

Sind Special (Congress) Conference, August 1920

A Special Sind Provincial Conference presided over by Durgdas B.
Advani was held at Hyderabad on the 28th and 29th August to
consider the Montagu—Chelmsford Reforms, Non-co-operation
and the Punjab ° atrocities’. A resolution adopting Non-co-opera-
tion proposed by Professor Thanwardas Lilaram Vaswani and
seconded by Haji Abdullah Haroon was passed despite opposition
from the Besantines and politicians of the old school who declared
it impracticable. At a critical juncture while the resolution was
under discussion a telegram was received from Gandhi which read
““ Hope Conference  accepts Non-co—-operation unhesitatingly.
Gujarat Conference has accepted all the stages. Wish success. ”’

Calcutta Special Congress, September 1920

The special session of the Congress suggested by the AIll India
Congress Committee in its meeting at Benares on the 30th May
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met at Calcutta early in September 1920. It decided on the
adoption of Gandhi’s progressive non-violent Non-co-opertion until
the so-called wrongs had been righted and ° Swaraj ° obtained. Its
recommendations were as follows :—
(1) Surrender of titles and honorary offices and resignation of
nominated members on local bodies.

(2) Refusal to attend Government levees and similar functions.

(3) Gradual withdrawal of pupils from Government aided or
controlled schools and colleges and the establishment of
national schools and colleges in their stead.

(4) Gradual boycott of Government Courts by lawyers and
litigants and the establishment of arbitration courts to

settle private disputes.

(5) Refusal of military men, clerks and labourers to offer
themselves for service in Mesopotamia.

(6) Withdrawal of candidates for the Reformed Councils and
abstention from voting for any candidate by all with

votes.

(7) Boycott of foreign goods and the adoption of Swadeshi.

To carry out its resolutions it appointed a Sub-Committee in
Calcutta to draft instructions and this Committee advised that an
immediate start should be made in connection with all the above
items in general and the boycott of Councils in particular.

The report of the Sub-Committee was accepted by the All-India
Congress Committee in a meeting presided over by Motilal Nehru
at Bombay on the 2nd October 1920.

Gandhi Birthday

Gandhi’s birthday, 2nd October 1920, was made the occasion in
Sind of holding meetings to sing his praises and to exhort people
to follow his lead.
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Mr. C. F. Andrews in Sind, October 1920

Among the outside agitators who visited Sind during the year
was Mr. C. F. Andrews who arrived in Hyderabad on the 19th October
1920. At a meeting that evening he described the conditions under
which indentured Ilabourers and other Indians lived in the British
Colonies to show that these Colonies wished to exclude Indians
or at all events to prevent them from becoming settlers. From
this he argued that India should aim at complete Independence
and Home Rule.

At another meeting he condemned the education imparted in
Government schools. Coming on to Karachi the same week he
addressed the Sind Students Convention and a public meeting
stressing Swaraj and non-violence.

Boycott of Councils

As a result of the acceptance by Congress of the Non-co-opera-
tion resolutions the leading agitators in Sind made serious attempts
to boycott the Council elections. The * Alwahid >> a Khilafat daily
regularly preached the Non-co-operation programme and appealed
to the religious prejudices of Mussalmans many of whom in Sind
are very backward and narrow minded.

At the same time it must be admitted that the task of these agitators
was simplified by the very fact that a majority of those who
had votes had never wanted them and even regarded them as a
potential nuisance. Hence while their inclination undoubtedly
coincided with the wishes of the agitators, it is safe to assume that
even without this additional incentive a large number of the voters
through ignorance or apathy would not have gone to the polls.

Throughout this agitation in connection with the elections, the
speakers at meetings almost invariably introduced quasi religious
sentiments likely to engender hatred of the Government and the
British. Hindus for instance called Europeans  Cowslaughters >’
and Mussalmans harped on the woes of Khilafat attributing them
to the anti-Muslim policy of the British.
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The following leaflet by Gandhi was distributed in English and
the vernacular :—

«“« BOYCOTT OF COUNCILS—VOTER’S DUTIES

The special Congress has decided with an overwhelming majority
to completely boycott the new Councils. Itis, therefore, your duty
not to give votes to any of the candidates for the new Councils.
Further, vou are required to inform candidates standing as your
representatives that you do not wish to send them or anyone celse
as your representatives. You must, therefore, sign the forms
prepared for your signatures and you are bound to inform your
brothervoters as to what they are required to do in the matter.

You know why it is sinful to go to the Councils: Government
have refused to give justice in connection with the Punjab, British
ministers have broken their pledges to the Mussalmans brothers in
connection with the Xhilafat and have otherwise disregarded their
deepest religious feelings. We must get these injusticesre moved;
and in order that such injustices and breach of pledges may not recur,
we must get complete Swargjva and avoid the state of bondage.

We cannot do this by going to the Councils;s imilarly we cannot
get Swarajya by going there. On the other hand even if our
representatives would vote against actions of the Government,
they would be considered as participants of those actions and
thus, against their will, they will be the tools of the injustice of
the Government. Therefore, in order to protect our self-respect
and to establish Swarajya first and to get injustice remedied,

the best and omnly way is not to send representatives to the
Councils.”

In October 1920 the °° Alwahid> began regularly to publish in
the centre of its front page inflammatory notices of which the
following translation of the one for the 16th October is typical :—

<« HINDU BROTHERS ( MUSSALMANS)

Adopt Non-co-operation with the enemies of Islam, the tyrant
rulers of India and enslavers of ¢ Bharat Mata °.
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Do not go to Government Durbars and Councils.
Do not vote for your disloyal brother candidate.

Do not enlist in the army to go to Baghdad to fight against
your Arab brothers. ™’

During the same month Gandhi issued orders to all the branches
of the All India Home Rule ILeague to make special efforts
during the ensuing two months for the boycott of the Councils.

A  party consisting of Mahomed Khan Ghazi Khan, Swami
Krishnanand, son of Bhumanand, Pandit Amersen, R. K. Sidhwa,
Professor Thanwardas Lilaram Vaswani and T. K. Jeswani left
Karachi on the 8th and returned on the 16th October. During
their tour they visited Dadu, Larkana, Shikarpur, Sukkur and
Rohri, delivering speeches to Hindu-Muslim audiences. The first
two speakers were violent in tone and tendered to rouse the
passions of their hearers to anything but a non-violent state. At
Sukkur, stones were thrown at the C. I. D. reporters and other
police present.

On the 20th iderm Mahomed Khan Ghazi Khan as Secretary of
the Sind Provincial Congress Committee sent the following telegram
to wvarious papers :—

““ Sind is as enthusiastic as ever over Nomn-co-operation. Elaborate
propaganda to boycott councils is being vigorously conducted all
round in face of tremendous difficulties in this burecaucracy ridden
province. Professor Vaswani and party returned to Karachi on 17th
October after successful tour in ( Dadu, Larkana, Shikarpur, Sukkur
and Rohri) where people flocked in thousands to attend public
meetings. The party organised the boycotit of council movement
(is) on sound footing. Abdul Majid and party held meetings in
Nawabshah, Chehopta Naushahro, Phulan, Dadu and Uderolal fair.
Following propagandists are working :— Abdul Khalik in Nawabshah
district, Khuda Baksh and Mahomed Baksh in Hyderabad district
Abdul Majid, Mahomed Hasim and Mokhamdin in Thar Parkar
district, Pandit Amersen, Swami Krishnanand, son of Bhumanand
and Moulvi Abdul Karim in Shikarpur and Jacobabad districts,
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Dr. Mahomed Yemin and Abdul Satar in Sukkur district, Virumal
(Begraj) in Sukkur and Rohri. >

On the 21st October, the Sukkur Branch of the All India Home
Rule League organised a procession which stopped at wvarious
centres in the town while Council boycott was preached. This was
a prelude to a series of such processions and street corner boycott
speeches which at times caused serious obstruction to traffic.
Virumal Begraj organised a similar procession in Shikarpur on the

21st October during the course of which violent speeches
made.

were

From the 22nd to 26th October a party headed by Dr. Choithram
Partabrai Gidwani and Ghanshamdas Jethanand Shivdasani of
Hyderabad went on a tour in the Thar Parkar district visiting
Mirpurkhas, Gadro and Umarkot. In their speeches they dwelt
on Non—co—-operation with allusions to the Rowlatt Act, the Punjab
¢ atrocities ’, the faithlessness of the British Government, the down—

trodden and impoverished condition of the country and the boycott
of Councils.

During the first week of November, camels used as sandwichmen,
paraded the streets of Karachi with large notices such as ‘ Boycott
the Councils . ““ Do not give your votes to the candidates >>. On the
6th of the same month the * New ZTimes > published glowing
accounts of the tours and agitation in connection with the Council
boycott. Between the 4th and 7th November, two Mussalman
agitators visited various places in Thar Parkar district delivering
speeches and distributing posters on the same subject while several
agitators from Xarachi visited Tatta on the 12th idem for the
same purpose. During the same month Pandit Amersen with local

leaders such as Pir Turavbali Shah, Pir Ali Anwar Shah toured
in Larkana.

Another and more objectionable party was that consisting of Dwarka
Prasad (of Dadu), Swami Krishnanand, son of Bhumanand, Gobind
Prasad (of Delhi), Kazi Khuda Baksh and Mir Allah Baksh Talpur (of

Mirpurkhas) which was joined by local agitators at Rohri, Sukkur and
Shikarpur.
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The Swami declared that though the people might tolerate the export
of India’s wheat they could not stand the attacks of the British on the
sacred cow and the sacred places of the Mussalmans.

Dwarka Prasad threatened that if the Council boycott did not bring
Government to its senses, the agitators would cause the sweepers, dhobis
and other servants of Europeans to leave their services and would prevent
landlords from renting buildings to Europeans.

Gobind Prasad from Delhi was particularly offensive in his speeches
frequently introducing mis-statements about cow’s blood, and cow’s
and pig’s fat being used in the manufacture of various articles such as
sugar and candles. On one occasion he declared that British medicines
contained forbidden ingredients .While at a meeting on the 9th November
he introduced beastly lies about British soldiers and the natives in Fiji

%nd roused his audience to the pitch of uttering imprecations on the
nglish.

The Kazi solemnly declared that the Koran laid down that war should
be waged on all who interfered with their religion.

In addition other small parties visited Jacobabad on the 15th November

1920 and toured in the Desert portion of Thar Parkar district during the
month.

After the Elections

A meeting of the Council Boycott Committee took place at Sukkur on
the 19th November after the elections to congratulate themselves on
their success in preventing people from voting. Glowing pictures were
painted of the time when the Non-co-operation propaganda would be
crowned with success and those who had been so misguided as to get
themselves elected would be approached and asked to resign. If they
refused then the Government would be shown that these members were
in no sense the elected representatives of the people since they had secured
their seats by the votes of an insignificant proportion of the electorate.

In actual fact, however, as far as the election of Mussalman members
in the Sukkar district was concerned over 50 per cent of those entitled
had voted and the successful candidates were really representatives of
the people.
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At a District Congress Committee meeting at Shikarpur the res
of this boycott campaign at that place embodied in a pamphlet »
distributed. The expenses of the campaign were given out as Rs. §
spent on paying speakers, supplying them with food, fares, etc.

A 'Warning

It is interesting to note at this point that Ghulam Mahomed Bhui
who was not easily carried away by any party had issued a warn
against the Council boycott agitation, condemning it as harmful :
likely ultimately to prove fatal to the cause of the country. The “Bha.
vasi®® of Hyderabad gave prominence to it in its issue of the 10th Octo
1920. '

Income-Tax Non-Payment Campaign

Another direction in which the agitators about this time sought
embarrass Government was to induce people not to pay income-tax.
a meeting in Shikarpur on the 17th November 1920, Swami Krishnans
son of Bhumanand and Pandit Amersen, both paid propagandi
suggested that those among the audience who considered they were
heavily taxed should refuse to pay income-tax.

An association with the burlesque title of the ““‘Prevention of cruelty
income-tax Societies’” was formed in this month to afford relief to
heavily taxed. The idea was thdt if Government refused to consider
cases brought to its notice, the persons concerned would be encoura
to refuse payment and steps would be taken to prevent others fI
bidding at the auctions of the distrained effects seized for non-paym
under the Act.

The “Alwahid’’ which had all along shown itself quite irresponsi
published the following notice on the 23rd November 1920 :—
““Has your income-tax been unfairly assessed ? If so take a vow
to pay even if Government seizes your property and sends you to |
Understand that on account of such seizures and tyranny the <
which will issue from the hearts of the poor will give us freedom
destroy the chains that bind us.”

A second and largely attended meeting was held at Shikarpur by N
co-operators on the 2nd December and the heavy incidence of taxa:
on merchants deplored.
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During December the Home Rule League in Shikarpur and Sukkur
aded by Virumal Begraj endeavoured to secure the co-operation of
: merchants by harping on this subject and organising a committee
go into the grievances of the people in connection with this tax.
ey attempted to create disaffection by declaring that the taxes were
> heavy and to gain adherents by making a show of helping the supposed
tims.

1d Provincial Congress Committee Meeting at Hyderabad, INovember
1920

At a meeting of the Sind Provincial Congress Committee at Hyderabad
the 21st November 1920, the following were elected office bearers for
> coming year :—

(1) Durgdas B. Advani - .. President.
(2) Virumal Begraj : .- .. Vice-President.
(3) Hassamal Kalachand .. .. Vice-President.

(4) Jairamdas Daulatram Alimchandani. Secretary.

(5 R. XK. Sidhwa » .. .. Secretary.

cial Boycott

Several Hindu Non-co-operators including Durgdas B. Advani, Swami
svindanand, Dr. Choithram Partabrai Gidwani and Jairamdas Daulat-
1 met at Hyderabad on the 23rd November 1920 and after some delibera-
m sent the following telegram to Gandhi addressed to Benares :—

“Several Hindu Non-co-operators, including Durgdas, Govinda-
nand, Choithram, Ghansham, Jairamdas and the Editor, ‘““Hindu,”
and others met to-day and discussed question of social boycott. Opinion
unanimous against social boycott being advised because inexpedient
hindrance to our movement and giving innumerable opportunities
for tyranny. Urge you kindly use your influence in this matter.”
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Miscellaneous Propaganda

At a public meeting in Karachi on the 26th October 1920 the following
resolutions were passed.

(1) Protesting against the exclusion from India under Government
orders of the ““Daily Herald’ and ““Muslim Qutlook’ and sympa-
thising with Lansbury and the British Labour Party.

(2) Protesting against the nomination of Sir Ali Imam, the Maharajah
of Navanagar and Sir William Meyer to the Council of the
League of Nations as they did not truly represent India.

- (3) Sympathising with the family of the late Mayor of Cork (Sweeny)
who had died as the result of hunger striking in jail.

A resolution of sympathy with Zafar Ali (Editor ‘‘Zimindar,”” Lahore)
was passed in a public meeting at Larkana on the 1st November.

Similarly at Hyderabad on the 2nd November Zafar Ali was congra-
tulated on his conviction and firm attitude and the Non-co-operators
exhorted others to follow in his footsteps. Another meeting at Hyderabad
on the 5th idem also condoled with the relatives of the late Mayor of
Cork and the audience was asked to follow his noble example.

Throughout the month of December numerous meetings for general
propaganda purposes were held throughout Sind. Among the subjects
touched on being the Rowlatt Act, the Jallianwala Bagh incident, the
salaries of European officials in India, the Europeans’ general treatment
of Indians and the proposed visit of the Duke of Connaught. The people
were advised that their numerous wrongs could only be redressed by
uniting and adopting Swadeshi.

Press Comments in 1920

The Press naturally during this period was not idle. It took its tone
from the speeches and in turn fomented agitation leading others to further
flights of oratory in a vicious circle. One subject of which the papers never
seemed to tire was the Jallianwala Bagh incident and when the Army
Council’s decision regarding General Dyer was published the extremist
papers saw in it nothing but an attempt to draw a veil over the whole
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affair and regarding it as their duty to tear it aside. The following from
the “Hindu” of Hyderabad dated the 10th July 1920, is typical :—

“The murder of ‘Bharat’ has been concealed by a curtain. From every
drop of blood of this murder such a force will arise in the country that
the curtain will be torn to pieces and the English forced to admit that
by their concealment of the murder they have committed ‘an error of
judgement and will be forced to repent’” and so on in the same strain.

From about this time such papers as the “Hindu’ and the “Bharatwasi”
both of Hyderabad began to evince a great interest in Sinn Fein and
Ireland that “Distressful® country being hailed as a sister in affliction.

Introduction 1921

The year 1921 saw the Non-co-operation movement reach the high
water mark in Sind. It is a year of meetings, hartals, convictions for
sedition and general political activity which seems to have arisen out of,
or, at least, been greatly encouraged by, the success towards the end of
1920 of the Council boycott agitation.

During January various events took place which showed the trend of
the movement. The Editor of the “Alwahid’’ (Kazi Abdul Rehman) was
convicted under section 124-A, Indian Penal Code, with the result that,
when the conviction became known an almost general “hartal’” was
organised in Karachi and protest meetings were held at various other
places in Sind. At the latter, the suggestion was put forward that the
time had come to refuse payment of taxes. Should Government attach the
property of those who thus refused, then by general agreement that

property would be regarded as stolen and no one would bid for it when
auctioned.

In Sukkur a quarrel arose between the co-operatorsled by Mr. Bhojsing
Gurdinomal, M. L. C. and the Non-co-operators headed by Mr. Virumal
Begraj. When finally a case under section 107, Criminal Procedure Code,
was lodged against the latter, a ‘hartal’ was arranged in Sukkur. Even-
tually the case against Mr. Virumal was dropped.

The “Hinduw’ (Hyderabad) came out with an unsigned appeal on its
front page against enlistment in the army which, it declared a sin since it
only led to enslaving free nations and increasing the blood-lust of the
rulers. This appeal is reported to have created a certain amount of stir
in Sukkur.
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During the month just to show their independence, Jairamdas Daulat-
ram and Lokram Nainaram Sharma both of Hyderabad, refused to serve
as assessors in the Sessions Court on the ground that they were Non-co-

operators.

The careful observer would, however, have noticed that despite these
signs of unanimity and boldness there was a fatal weakness in the move-
ment in Sind, namely, jealousy with its resulting distrust.

The Nagpur Congress in February drew up what it termed a constitu-
tion and divided the country into provinces each to be administered by
its own provincial conference. Accordingly the Sind Provincial Congress
Committee appointed a Sub-Committee to work out the details, but this
latter failed to come to an agreement as to the place which should be
regarded as the Headquarters of the province. This was due to disagree-
ments between the Hindus of the different parts of Sind but especially
Lower and Upper Sind and was the rock on which the movement started
to split. Later intercommunal jealousy shattered what remained of the
already weakened structure.

The Sind Provincial Congress Committee and Non-Co-operation
Propaganda

During this same month the Sind Provincial Congress Committee
decided on sending out parties to preach Non-co-operation propaganda
in the district and appointed Pandit Amersen and Shaikh Abdul Aziz as
overseers for the whole province, the object aimed at being the formation
of village Congress Committees everywhere. Students who in pursuance
of the movement had left Government schools were attached to experienced
agitators to learn how to spread the propaganda.

Y. J. Patel’s Visit to Sind

The event of importance during February 1921 was the visit to Sind of
V. J. Patel from Gujarat who arrived in Karachi on the 9th to preside
over a student’s convention, which though prohibited by rules to have
anything to do with politics, had been won over by Non-co-operators.

There was much enthusiasm and a certain amount of rowdyism at the
Karachi City Railway station on his arrival .The local agitators, however,
soon became alarmed at the attitude of the crowd which they could not
control and hurried Mr. Patel off in a motor. The crowds then dispersed.
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Mr. Patel, accompanied by Dr. Choithram Partabrai Gidwani and
Jairamdas Daulatram Alimchandani, attended meetings in Karachi
called by various bodies and spoke on *“‘Swadeshi’’ and Non-co-operation
in general. He also spoke in favour of the Tilak Swaraj Fund.

On the 13th evening he left for Sukkur and thereafter visited Shikarpur,
Larkana and Hyderabad making similar speeches at all these places.

Sind Provincial Congress Committee Organisation

The Sind Provincial Congress Committee met in Karachi on the 12th
and 13th February and among other things decided that delegates from
the various districts including Khairpur State and Cutch should be elected
to the Provincial Congress body strictly on a population basis thus:
Karachi (including Cutch) 2, Hyderabad 12, Larkana 13, Sukkur 8,
Nawabshah 9, Thar Parkar 9, Jacobabad 5, Shikarpur 4, Total 71.

General Propaganda, February 1921

The “Hindu> of the 10th February enthused over what it described as

the ““defeat of the English arising from the boycott of English goods in
India.” In this way it argued that India could create trouble for England

more quickly than the Bolshevists. Non-co-operation, it declared was
becoming stronger day by day and though for the moment they laughed
soon all the ministers and proud bureaucrats would tremble and weep.

Ghanshamdas Jethanand Shivdasani at Hyderabad on the 7th February
spoke thus :—

“Our Dharm teaches us not to have anything to do with bad people,
so, as the British Government has robbed us of our honour and our
lives, we should have nothing to do with it. Every man, woman and
child should realize that ‘Swaraj’ must be obtained and the power of
this Government destroyed.

Wherever they go though they may be the first settlers there, Indians
are turned out. This is due to our being regarded as beasts. In Fiji, a
small island, a law for Indians has been passed allowing one woman
for every three men. Should we shake hands with a Government that
degrades us thus ? You have to choose between the honour of your
women and yourselves and Government, between selfish gains or your
country’s honour. We have to destroy this Government. Brethren
remember your ‘Dharm’.”’
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Hyderabad reported that during the 3rd week of February, some ex-
students of the D. J. Sind College (Karachi) who had come to Hyderabad
for training at the Tilak Ashram delivered speeches on the lines of those
by Dr. Choithram Partabrai Gidwani and Jairamdas Daulatram
Alimchandani, on the tyranny of the British, the Punjab ‘atrocities’ the
Jallianwala massacres and the ‘immoral” treatment of Indian women
in the Fiji Islands. As co-operation with such a Government was out of
the question children should be taken from the Government schools and
sent to the National ones, foreign goods, especially liquor, should be
boycotted and Government servants should quit the service.

At the close of the week some of the cleverer students were sent to
places in the neighbourhood to speak and gain confidence before being
sent on a regular tour of the district. Some of the agitators even went
to the extent of exciting interest by putting up tutored boys, often of
tender years, to stand up at meetings and speak disparagingly of
Government.

The boycott of Government Courts was another item of the programme;
though upto February 1921 but little had been done in this connection.
In a assault case of Keamari, in which a complaint had been lodged in
Court, the Keamari Panchayat intervened on the 22nd February, fined
both the accused Rs. 4 of which Rs. 2-12 went to the complainant and
Rs. 1-4 to the Panchayat Fund. On the 23rd both parties applied to Court
to compromise.

On the 27th February the Bhiria (Nawabshah) Panchayat passed a
resolution that should any criminal or civil case be filed in any Court,
the Panchayat would intervene in this way and anyone not abiding by the
Panchayat’s decision would be fined Rs. 101 and excommunicated if
he refused to pay the fine.

In addition to the trial boycott, references were made in a meeting at
Hyderabad to the ‘Farwa’ of Abul Kalam Azad which was to the effect
that any Mussalman who joined or remained in Government service
or schools was not a true Mussalman.
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A Propaganda School

In the matter of education the agitators while ready enough to advise
students to leave Government institutions for the so-called National
School did not take sufficient interest in the latter to make them

a success. A striking example of this is furnished by the case of some 80
students mostly of the ID. J. Sind College, who, having left Government
Schools and Colleges were instructed in the middle of February to join
an Ashram at Hyderabad where they were to undergo training and

eventually form the nucleus of an Indian National Service. Out of these
only about 50 actually went and in a few days the number fell to half.
By the first week in March, only 5 college students and about a dozen

others remained.

The original idea was that these students calling themselves ‘soldiers of

swaraj should be given intensive training for 6 weeks or 2 months by such
persons as Jairamdas Daulatram Alimchandani, Dr. Choithram Partabrai
Gidwani, Abdul Jabbar Mahomed Yacub, Sheikh Abdul Majid in such

subjects as (a) India in Parliament and abroad, (b) The Swadeshi Move-
ment, (c) Non-co-operation and Satyagraha, (d) The United States of
America (by Lala Lajpatrai), (e¢) The Rowlatt Act and its reception by
Indians, (f) Lives of the great political leaders. In addition there was to

be hand-spinning, recreation, including music, and practical work. The
last apparently only consisted of collecting in the streets for various
funds, and the preparing and distributing of posters and notices.

Two things militated against the success of the scheme. In the first
place the instructors found travelling round the country and making

speeches more interesting and in the second the boys themselves were
impatient of anything that delayed them from taking an active part in the
agitation going on around them. Finally most of the students were sent
out to stump the country with experienced agitators. Those who
remained at the Ashram were mainly employed in writing pamphlets,
leaflets, and posters and in doing other miscellaneous clerical work. They
also assisted local agitators in the campaign in Hyderabad against Govern-
ment schools and the sale of liquor licences.
(Bk) R 5-4
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Other Institutions

During 1921 various institutions and associations of mushroom growth
sprang up for various purposes. Of this type were the Shikarpuri Young
Mens’ Swaraj Sabha started in Karachi during March by T. K. Jeswani
and the Gandhi Spinning and Weaving Workshop also in Karachi.
The aims and objects of the former were vague and general e. g., to follow
the principles of Non-co-operation, to boycott all foreign goods and to
take steps to get cloth manufactured from country made yarn. The
members were, however, mainly employed going about Karachi singing
national songs.

At the opening ceremony of the workshop T. L. Vaswani, who perfor-
med it, declared that there were but two mighty men of action in the
world at that time, namely, Lenin and Gandhi. He described both as
misrepresented and misunderstood ascetics, working for the good first
of their respective motherlands and then of the world at large. One
fantastic fight of fancy represented Pilgrims at Macca reverently
murmuring Gandhi’s name.

National Week, April 1921

Jairamdas Daulatram among his numerous activities was Editor of the
‘Vandemataram’ which was charged with the task, not too herculean at
that time, of keeping up the interest in the various phases of the move-
ment. In the issue of the paper for the 28th March prominence was given
to the ““ National Week™ (April 6th-13th) and how it should be successfully
observed. Considerable stress was laid on the necessity of a good colle-
ction at Hyderabad for the Tilak Swaraj Fund which had then reached
Rs. 12,000. The Editor considered that the Sind quota of five lakhs of
rupees was trifling for the province, pointing out that Karachi might
easily produce two, Hyderabad and Shikarpur a lakh each and Sukkur
half a lakh making four and a half in all, leaving merely the odd half to
be spread over the rest of Sind. The writer, however, was careful to point
out that care and discrimination were called for lest the generous impulses
of the people should be overtaxed. He also indicated that steady monthly
subscriptions were preferable to lump sum donations, and finally sounded
a note of warning against entrusting young boys with collecting boxes
before they had reached years of discretion and strength of character
to resist the temptations thus placed in their way.
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‘Governor’s Proposed Visit

The proposed visit to Karachi towards the end of March of H. E. the
Governor of Bombay furnished the agitators with a useful opportunity
of which they made the most. At meetings in Karachi, the leading agita-
‘tors after the usual subjects of Non-co-operation and boycott advised
‘the people to observe a ‘hartal’ on the 21st March, the day of His Excellen-
cy’s arrival. In doing so some of these fervid orators were led into speaking
rather scurrilously of the Governor, satan being one of the titles given
him. Of these Swami Krishananand was, perhaps, the most irresponsible.
He used to delight in misrepresenting matters and lauding any one who
was against the Government such as the Irish. The Afghan, he said, had
caused the English heavier losses than was realized and had not signed a
permanent treaty with them obviously because it was not worth his
while to do so.

Indians had been mainly responsible for defeating the Germans in the
last war and if Indians were now to withdraw their support several
powers would immediately attack the English.

The Effects of Agitation

Such were some of the misrepresentations much favoured at this
period. The natural effect of such speeches was to undermine the people’s
regard for lawful authority so necessary in the preservation of law and
order, but fortunately the leaders though quite ready to inflame the
‘minds of their hearers shrank from the next logical step of leading them
into open disobedience of the law and the officials charged with enforc-
ing it. An example of this actually occurred in Karachi on the 18th March
when a large crowd collected to listen to street orators in the Jhoona
Market. As traffic was being obstructed, the City Police Inspector asked
them to disperse. Some of the leaders such as Krishnanand thereupon
asked the crowd to move to the bed of the Lyari river. The crowd, how-
ever, at first refused to obey and hooted the police. An awkward situation
was averted by the arrival of another leader Kazi Khuda Baksh who on
being appealed to by the Inspector to advise the crowd to go quietly
did so by hitting on the idea that they might as well do so as the military
and police after all were their own people and would soon join them
against their rulers, so why antagonize them needlessly. This caught the
errant fancy of the mob which fell in with the suggestion and adjourned
to the dry river bed, where the meeting was continued.
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After it was over a band of youths went round the town singing a song
the burden of which was, ‘¢ Gandhi is the King of India and we are his
subjects. We shall extirpate the tyrants’ and more in the same strain.

At one such meeting on the 19th March, the members of Co-operative
Housing Societies were requested not to approach the Governor for
grants of land and a deputation including Manilal J. Vyas, Mahomed Khan
and Swami Govindanand was asked to approach members of
these societies accordingly. Even Non-co-operators such as Drs. Patel
and Popatlal were pilloried for forming a Gujarat Housing Co-operative
Society. Manilal argued that ““it was useless to ask Government for
pieces of land for once ‘swargj’ had been obtained all the land would be
theirs™.

Mahomed Khan took advantage of the occasion to cast aspersions on
Lord Reading, at that time Viceroy designate, declaring he was coming
to India not to redress the people’s grievances but to squeeze out asmuch
money as possible for England.

H. E. The Governor’s Visit, March 1921

His Excellency, the Governor of Bombay arrived at Karachi on 2ist
March 1921 and left on the 23rd idem. On the first day there was a
complete ‘hartal’ in the town and a few instances of rowdyism such as
putting obstructions on the tramway lines and pulling passengers out of
the cars thus brought to a standstill, throwing stones and intimidating
shopkeepers to close their shops and workmen to stop work. Four men
were dealt with for rioting and wrongful restraint.

That evening what was for Karachi a large meeting assembled on the
Idgah Maidan. It was split up into three separate groups of about 5,000
each in charge of Kazi Khuda Baksh, Tarachand K. Shahani and Dr.
Haji Ghulam Hussain Kassim. A number of persons addressed these
three meetings, prominent among whom were Swamis Govindanand and
Krishnand, Mai Saraswati Devi, Manilal J. Vyas, Mahomed Khan Ghazi
Khan and Pandit Amersen.

The speakers were careful to condemn violence while at the same time
blaming Government for the confusion which they said existed. Some
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Sentences taken from Swami Govindanand’s speech on this occasion are
typical : *“ T am not angry with the Government. There is no justice in
India. The Government itself says, that it cannot administer justice.
The Government that cannot do this is like a dead person. The Govern-
Iment had admitted that it cannot rule over India, that it is unfit and that
we should take up the rule. There is only confusion in the ways of the
Present Government which should be replaced by another

Government is neither fit nor able to do justice. Why should it then
remain in India.”

"Temperance Agitation

During March, the liquor auctions furnished the agitators with an
excellent opportunity for fresh agitation and they made the most of it.
In the Thar Parkar district they claimed complete success as therein no
bid was received for either the liquor or drug licences. This was no doubt
due partly to the high reserve prices put on the shops and partly to the
fact that it was not generally known that the order requiring the full

amount of the accepted bid to be paid in advance had been cancelled in
favour of an instalment system.

While the liquor contracts were being auctioned in the office of the
Huzur Deputy Collector, Karachi, on the 14th March a crowd appeared
and at the instigation of certain so-called leaders broke into the place,
overturned chairs and created confusion. The following day at a public

meeting at which a number of the leading agitators was present this
behaviour of the crowd was condemned.

On the 22nd March, the date of the liquor auction at Sukkur a number
of loafers and youths appeared with flags and banners before the Colle-
ctor’s bungalow, adjoining his office where the auctions were being held
and shouted ““Gandhi ki Jai’’ and other phrases at intervals until they
were removed. At Rohri in the Sukkur district youths wearing belts,
inscribed “‘Swaraj Sipahi’’ picketed the liquor shops. In Hyderabad
though the first half of the month had been devoted to bringing about
a boycott of the auctions the agitators were not successful.

Some efforts were made with apparent success in Karachi and Hydera-
bad to persuade certain communities, such as the Marwaris, dhobis and
sweepers, to vow they would give up liquor.
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Increase in Agitation during March

Although in December 1920, at the Nagpur Congress, Choithram
Partabrai Gidwani, Jairamdas Daulatram, Durgdas Bhojraj Advani,
Jawaharmal Totiram Mansukhani (Swami Govindanand), Mahomed
Khan Ghazi Khan, T. K. Jeswani, Ghanshamdas Jethanand Shivdasani
all from Sind had been on the subjects committee of the Congress,
no member from Sind attended the Bezwada Conference. The
distance from Karachi may have had something to do with this
but it is more than probable that the increased agitation in Sind
during this month kept the agitators fully occupied and proved a superior
attraction to the Congress. Certain it is that agitation spread to an enor-
mous extent throughout Sind even to out of the way villages during
March, though, as subsequent events proved, this phase was but transitory.

Karachi, as might be expected, provided a better field than elsewhere
and some of the orators allowed themselves to be carried away by visions
of speedy success and a resultant state in which they hoped to become
the only persons of authority. Speeches became less restrained and some
of the speakers even toyed with revolutionary ideas. Of these Swammni
Krishnanand, always an unbalanced extremist, found encouragement to
voice his thoughts in this direction. The burden of his speeches on more
than one occasion was that the British Government not being fit to rule
should be replaced by the rule of Mahatma Gandhi, that when every
efforts to obtain ‘swaraj’ by non-violent methods had failed, as he seemed
to expect they would, Indians would be justified in resorting to violence.

The effect of such advice on the audiences may be gauged by an incident
which occurred on the 11th March. The Superintendent of Police, Sind
C. I. D. and some of his officers appeared at an open air meeting for a
few minutes and as they left, were followed for some distance by a hooting
crowd. This sort of thing continued intermittently throughout 1921 and
the first half of 1922 with C. I. D. officers of various grades attending
meetings coming in for abuse and other annoyances.

In songs made popular by bands of youths led round the town by agita-
tors such as Fazal Karim, Gandhi was referred to as the King of India
with the Ali Brothers as his ministers.
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Both in Karachi and outside efforts were made to set up arbitration
courts to replace the regular civil and criminal courts and petty cases,
many civil in nature, were decided by them. In Karachi for instance
pressure was brought to bear on a shopkeeper who had kept open during
the ‘hartal’ of the 21st March so that finally he was forced to go to the
agitators for pardon which was given on payment of a fine of Rs. 15.
A dispute between husband and wife was settled by the Keamari Panchayat
which charged Re. 1 for its services. Petty civil and criminal cases
were also decided by an arbitration court in Bhiria (Nawabshah).

Other directions in which activity was shown were exhortations to the
people to vote only for Non-co-operator candidates for the muncipali-
ties and to resist taxation. As regards the latter, little actually resulted but
at Naushahro (Nawabshah) when the Mukhtiarkar attempted to collect
the sanitation tax some shopkeepers closed their shops. In Sukkur a
national association (Shewa Mandi) was formed and non-payment  of
taxes advocated at meetings. Parties of Non-co-operators went round in

even small villages speaking on the failure of the crops, forced labour
(cher), and income-tax grievances.

From Rohri and Khairpur Daharki agitation against the house-tax

was reported. At the latter places when the Mukhtiarkar had to issue
distress warrants a ‘hartal’ took place.

A disturbance took place in Sukkur on the 24th March when about
50 agitators picketed the market to prevent the sale of fish and meat.

Purchasers were in some cases assaulted and the articles boughtsnatched
from them.

Although matters looked serious during March it was soon obvious
that the so-called leaders, men of little charactér, had no real authority
and no following except among irresponsible people who, having nothing
to lose, were attracted by the novelty and excitement,and the shopkeepers,

mainly Hindus, who, as a matter of policy, obeyed when called upon to
close their shops on occasion.

The large landowning class in Sind, mostly Mussalman zamindars,
and other pcople of influence such as the Pirs for the most part kept
aloof and in many cases openly declared against the agitation. There were
a few exceptions such as Pir Mahbub Shah, whose fanatical hatred of
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the English and whose influence in the south of Hyderabad gave the
movement there fictitious strength for a time till eventually he was impri-
soned and by his subsequent conduct showed himself to be a man of
straw. Other minor Rashidi Pirs also took part in the agitation notably
Pir Ghulam Mujadid of Matiari (Hyderabad). But apart from these and
about a couple of dozen sincere, though misguided men there was no
one of any personality or real influence.

Increased activity was noticed during April in connection with
enrolling members of Congress. Hyderabad claimed to have
obtained about 1,100 new members and Karachi 300.

Agitators in Sukkur attempted during the month to usurp the
functions of the police by detaining for several hours for enquiries
some half a dozen persons for having been concerned in a large
house breaking and theft case.

Hartals, April 1921

But the greatest achievements of the month, were the © hartals °
in connection with the National week and in memory of the
Jallianwala Bagh incident. That on the 6th April was almost
complete in Xarachi, Hyderabad, Dadu, Sukkur and Shikarpur,
though a failure in places like Shewan and Tatta despite the
efforts of agitators specially deputed from KXarachi.

Another harfal on the 13th idem in Karachi was even more
complete than that of the week before. This was mainly due to
the visits and efforts of leading agitators. On this occasion a
special effort was made at Tatta which was previously visited by
Swami Govindanand, while in Hyderabad district Pir Mahbub Shah,
Pir Ghulam Mujadid and Abdul Jabbar were the leading spirits.

In Karachi town a third © kartal > was organised on the 14th April by
the Sikhs under Jagatsingh Akali and other local agitators. No good
was done to the movement by the bands of Sikhs, some of whom
displayed outsize Kirpans, who went round the town persuading
shop keepers, often with threats, to close their shops. The arrest
of Fazal Karim and another agitator, together with the rumoured
arrests of several Sikhs, drew a crowd round the City Police
Station where stones were thrown.
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Hyderabad observed both the ¢ Aartals’ on the 6th and 13th
guieﬂy. Nawabshah showed less enthusiasm over the second than
1t had done over the first and other places also appear to have
fc?und the repetition lacking in interest. Tando Adam, though it
did not go in for the second ¢ hartal’ whole-heartedly nevertheless

was the scene of some exoitement when Swami Govindanand was
arrested there.

Tatta which as mentioned above had disappointed the agitators
on the 6th showed more enthusiasm on the 13th. A mob even
collected round an open shop and assaulted the shop-keeper and
his servant. The police made some arrests but the agitators
retorted by getting the shop-keeper ex-communicated.

Altogether the ° Aartal’ on the 6th was both more general and
better carried out than that on the 13th.

In addition to organising these ° Ahartals’® the agitators toured in
almost every district and held frequent meetings. T. L. Vaswani was
prominent in Larkana, Swami Govindanand of Hyderabad with Ganga
Shankar of Ajmer toured in Nawabshah, Dr. Watammal Gulab-
singh and Gurdinomal Tahilsing were active in Thar Parkar. Violent
speeches were made by Shaikh Abdul Majid, Dr. Choithram,
Dwarkaprasad and Swami Krishnanand. Except in Karachi colle-
ctions for the °© Tilak Swaraj Fund’ were zealously made. In
Karachi, however, there had been misappropriations by the colle-
ctors in-charge of money boxes so there was not the same keenness
shown. The aim was, of course, the Rs. 5 lakhs ‘expected from
Sind but, although no reliable information could be had, it probably
fell short of that amount. Places like Hyderabad, which had to
subscribe Rs. 25,000 were said to have paid their quota mainly
owing to the generosity of rich Sind work merchants who had
made their money abroad mainly in British Colonies.

Sukkur seems to have contended itself with words and outward
display as several meetings were held and banners displayed in
the bazzar. These banners advocated among other things increased
Congress membership, abstention from liquor and the desirability
of destroying the satanic Government. The meetings were announced
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by beat of drum, the crier wusually prefacing his announcements

with the words : °° The country is Tilak’s and the Government
Gandhi’s.” ~

Apart from being tedious it would serve no useful purpose to
detail all the numerous meetings that were held all over Sind.
Every where with more or less enthusiasm the same subjects
such as the Jallianwala Bagh incident, the boycott of liquor
and foreign cloth, and °swadeshi®> were dwelt upon. Anything
connected with Government was denounced, as for instance, courts
and schools which were termed gambling dens and slaughter
houses, respectively, and policemen at whose devoted heads were
hurled the opprobrious epithets of ¢ Yazid’ (name of a tyrant
king who usurped the Khilafat and made war on Hussain in which
the latter was eventually killed in the cause of Islam ), < Kaffirs’
( unbelievers ), badmashas ( bad characters ) and ‘wirmmak  harams’
(disloyal to their country ). As might be expected in out of the way
places where supervision was difficult and the speakers more
irresponsible, the speeches were stronger and the statements mcre
rash, Government and all connected with or loyal to it were
vilified. In certain Mussalman strongholds like Jacobabad the
religious feelings of the majority were appealed to as when one
speaker professed to read from a vernacular paper that ° Kaffirs
had converted Muslim to Christianity by force’. In others like
Dadu ( Larkana) some local hot head like Dwarkaprasad
would make violent speeches and be followed by a number of
irresponsible local imitators.

False Rumours and Fabrications

At this time that wonderful story of the bombardment of the
holy  places by the British was started and later embellished by
such additions as that the ammunition was bought from the profits
made out of the sale in India of foreign cloth which should in
consequence be boycotted.

Another story which had a great vogue was to the effect that

foreign sugar was refined by a process which involved the use of
the blood and bones of cows and pigs. This of course touched
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the susceptibilities of both Hindus and Mussalmans. Who started the
story is not known, though he must have been rather proud of
his inventive genius, but Swami Krishnanand gave it wide publicity
in Karachi. At one of these meetings stones were thrown at the
police and some of them slightly injured.

Gandhi Visits Sind-April 1921

Gandhi visited Sind between the 24th and 30th April stopping
at the following places :—

Hyderabad, Xarachi, Larkana, Shikarpur, Jacobabad, Sukkur.
Rohir and Mirpurkhas. He both came into and left Sind via
the Jodhpur—Bikaneer Railway on this occasion. During the visit
bhe quickly became aware of the jealousies and consequent lack of
unity, among the so-called leaders in Sind. He blamed them for
being unable to sink their differences and combine under a common
leader, also for being afraid to go to jail and for being “Westernized. >’

It is rathetr significant that when he came to Hyderabad for the
second time during this tour but little interest was shown in him.
Only 600 to 700 people thought it worth paying the small entrance
fee to attend the District Conference there over which he presided,
and when at Gandhi’s suggestion that the meeting should be
thrown open to the general public only about 300 more came in.

In Karachi his reception was good, some 15,000 persons taking
part in the procession headed by a boy on a camel working a
spinning wheel. His speeches centred mainly on the use of the
‘ charkha’® and, more particularly when addressing the depressed
classes, the avoidance of liquor. He expressed himself displeased
with the number of #hartals.

Moazamali who accompanied Gandhi spoke at several public
meetings on Khilafat matters. '

During his tour Gandhi was presented with purses as follows :—

Karachi .. Rs. 25,000 .
Hyderabad .. Rs. 6,000 (exclusive of the Rs.
' 25,000 Tilak Swaraj
Fund already collected )
Shikarpur .. Rs. 25,000 ‘
Sukkur .. Rs. 10,000 (the Mahant of Sadh Bela

contributed half cof this).
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Moazamali received Rs. 600 from Aminuddin N. Munshi for the
Smyrna Fund.

As the total collected in Sind amounted to about one lakh,
the amount expected from Shikarpur alone, the tour may be said
not to have been very successful.

While going round Sind, Gandhi was accompanied by a party
of Sindhis consisting of Haji Abdullah Haroon, T. L. Vaswani,
Mahomed Khan Ghazi Khan, Pandit Amersen and others.

Gandhi during this visit met two critics and discussed matters
with them at Hyderabad. These were Jethmal Parsram, Editor of
the Bhararwasi, a staunch supporter of Mrs. Annie Besant, who
had been attacking Gandhi and the Non-co-operation movement
in his paper, and Santdas Mangharam, pleader of Hyderabad, a
confirmed moderate. They criticised a speech made by Mahomed
Ali at Madras in April 1921 in which he had spoken of Afghanis-
tan as follows :—* If Afghanistan came to fight against those who
hold the holy places of Islam and want to destroy the Muslim
faith and the Khilafat, it was their duty to gird up their loins
and fight against the British Government. This speech had undoubt-
edly caused some of the thinking Sind Hindus a certain amount of
uneasiness. Both his interviewers were not satisfied by Gandhi’s
replies and declared that he was profoundly wrong especially in
ignoring the fundamentals of human character, its passions,
prejudices and lack of self-control, and was endeavouring to create
a state of perfect human beings wherein every man would be so
perfectly self-controlled that no other Government would be required.
In short they accused Gandhi of being an impractical visionary.

Anti—-Non-Co-operation Feeling

-During May the growth of an anti Non-co-operation feeling was
noticéable at least among the better class people and especially
the Hindus. With the exception of three papers of any importance,
viz., ““The New Times> (Karachi),”* The Hinduw’ (Hyderabad) and “The
Sindhi®® (Sukkur), the press was, if anything, against the movement-
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General Degeneration

At the same time perhaps never before had been so many
meetings held and so many speeches made, but few of the former
were really important and those responsible for the latter were, for
the most part, irresponsible persons such as literate or, at most,
semi-literate villagers such as carpenters, bidi-sellers, and misce-
llaneous loafers some of whom were paid by local political
organisations.

As might be expected any loftiness of ideal or tomne quickly
departed and agitation seemed like passing into the hands of the
mob. Under these circumstances it was not strange that men like
Mahomed XKhan Ghazi Khan should consider the advisability of
replacing non-violent Non-co-operation by something stronger and
more likely to be productive of immediate results.

The volume of irresponsible and inflammatory speeches increased
particularly in Karachi, Thar Parkar and the Upper Sind Frontier.
Karachi has a very large mixed population which includes a large
proportion of labourers who cannot reason or think for them-
selves. To such Mahomed Khan became an oracle. The Parkar and
the Upper Sind Frontier districts are backward and largely
Mussalman in character.

It might be of interest here to give specimens of the type of
speeches current at this time. It is quite unimportant to name the
actual speakers as similar sentiments couched in similar language
could have been heard at this period almost anywhere in Sind :—

“The English have looted India for the last 150 years. Indians
are not respected anywhere in the world and are regarded as
coolies by other nations. The English with their dogs sitin 1st
class carriages while Indians are herded into the 3rd class.”

“A Marwari had been to a ‘Gora’ (whiteman) to demand his
dues. The ‘Gora® kicked him so mercilessly that he died but the
Court decided that he died of an enlarged spleen.”

“Officers do not regard the C.I.D. men favourably. Like us
they regard them as fools because. they are tale bearers. This
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should make the C.I.D. men think and withdraw themselves from
their evil work, otherwise they will live to regret it.”

“This is a satanic sircar which has sucked our blood and is
now eating our bones. Rise, stand up and liberate mother Bharat
imprisoned for the last 150 years.”

“If Government does not perform its duties properly do not be
afraid of it. You have to die some day and it is better to die for
the Bharat Mata or go to jail. Do not be afraid of jails. When
you are being taken there you will be garlanded and honoured.
Now you are degraded and are nothing more than coolies of no
value. If an Indian is killed by a European it is said to be
mistake. He was mistaken for a deer and shot.”

“Some of you ‘Aaris® and your children are starving. Why ?
because the Government takes away your corn. Then a lot of
money has to be paid to Government servants.”

“The English were originally savages and naked but we civilized
(improved) them. They lived on potatoes until we taught them to
eat corn. You know that sugar in foreign countries (Vilayat) is
prepared with bones. Those of cows and pigs are ground and
mixed with it. Do not touch sugar. Foreign ghee mixed with pig’s
fat is sent to India and pure ghee exported instead.”

“The British Government is very cruel. It cares only for the
whites who get the best medical attendance while Indians are
allowed to die of plague and cholera. Such people should be
driven out of the country. Had there been a Hindu or Mahomedan
king we should have been properly looked after. All the English
know is how to loot India.”

“The loss of life in the Punjab in 1919 was estimated at
3,500. The faces of our mothers and sisters were uncovered and
spat at.” (Other indignities to women not fit for publication
were also mentioned.) :

The above are sufficient to show what passed for oratory at
this time in the villages where strict supervision was 'not possible.
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It is a wonder that the effect on the people was not more marked
than -it was in actual fact. Perhaps the credit is due to the shrewd-
ness of the average villager who suspected the truth of much that
was told him especially having regard to the previous history and
character of the speakers and his own personal knowledge of the
European from contact with various officers.

Sukkur District Congress Conference, May 1921

The event which should have been of outstanding importance
during the month of May was the Sukkur District Congress
Conference which met at Ubauro on the 21st and 22nd, but this
proved a failure. A number of the leading agitators could not
turn up owing to the inaccessible venue and on the first day the
attendance was poor and the proceedings uneventful. The second
day dissensions broke out and the meeting broke up in confusion.

Disappointed, some of the agitators went the same day (22nd) to
Mirpur Mathelo but received rather a shock there when in the
meeting they were subjected to considerable heckling and the most

prominent of them (Moulvi Taj Mahomed of Amrote) was called
a liar and a cheat.

During May 1921, various anti-Non-co-operation bodies had begun
to spring up in various parts, notably in the Tando Division
of Hyderabad district and at Mirpur Mathelo and Ubauro in
Sukkur district, and successful meetings were held by influential
people at which Non-co-operation was condemned. Gradually these

meetings gained in influence and undoubtedly had some effect in
stemming the tide of agitation.

On the other hand the Non-co-operators were not idle and
increased efforts to enroll Congress members were made during
May and June and with some success judged by the number who
paid annas four which was then the entrance fee. At the same
time some of these so called Congress members did not regard
this new step seriously. In fact many of them seem to have given their

money much as they would give alms to rid themselves of an
importunate beggar. '
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Sukkur National Arbitration Court
During May, a National Arbitration Court was established in
Sukkur.

A fee of Re. 1 was charged for each complaint taken cognizance of,
with later an anna extra per summons as a process fee, and for a
time this had something of a vogue but gradually arrears mounted up
and disputants became dissatisfied with the results. Usually only
petty criminal and civil cases came before the Court and rough
and ready was the justice dispensed. A man convicted by the
court of the theft and sentenced to one month’s imprisonment was
confined in the Tilak Hall where he was made to work at the
spinning wheel, pull the purmkha and keep the place clean. A court
such as this could only continue so long as both parties were
willing to agree by its decisions. In the case of one Hindu versus
another the influence of the Panchayat might be used to make the
loser submit to the court’s decree under a threat of ex-communica-
tion but it must have been obvious that without the authority to
enforce its decisions the court was not likely to exist for long.

A new anti-Government paper, the “Swaraj” edited by Choithram
Teckchand Valecha, a sonar by caste and prominent local agitator,
made its appearance in Sukkur in May.

Agitation during Jumne 1921

During June there was a marked decrease both in the number of
meetings and in the objectionable tone of the speeches. The
Ramzan fast might account for this to some extent as far as the
Mussalmans were concerned and the meetings between the Viceroy
and Gandhi may also have had a quietening effect. At the same
time the bogey of an Afghan invasion had gradually spread among
the Hindus generally and put them against the Mussalmans. There
was no longer complete unity between the two communities and
distrust was increasing.

At the end of June it was announced that Sind’s contribution to
the Tilak Swaraj Fund amounted to Rs. 2,35,000 and this amount
apparently included the money which had been given to Gandhi in
personn during his visit in April. Out of this fund regular salaries
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according to the importance of the individual were being paid to a
number of agitators. It was necessary therefore, that collections
should be regularly made but, unfortunately for the success of this
scheme, allegations of misappropriation became common with the
natural result that people became less inclined to give.

During these two months the campaign against liquor was
revived in places and especially in Karachi where paid volunteers
were employed to picket the shops. It is said, that as a result, the
sales in these shops decreased. No outbreak of violence, was
reported from anywhere, so it may be safely assumed that the
people were not subjected to too great annoyance by the measure.

Mai Sarla Devi, wife of Rambhuj Dutt Choudhari visited Karachi
and Hyderabad between the 10th and 15th June in connection with
the anniversary of the Swaraj Kanya Mahavidyalaya (Home Rule
Girls High School). She addressed several meetings emphasising the
importance of using khaddar. In XKarachi she collected Rs. 6,000
for wvarious national funds.

Signs of Decline

As previously indicated a tendency on the part of the Hindus to
suspect the Mussalmans of ulterior motives had sprung up and
this suspicion undoubtedly had the effect of causing the former to
pause and think of the logical consequences of the Non-co-operation
movement which, according to their preconceived ideas, necessitated
the combined action of the two communities against Government.

During July, this hesitation on the part of the Hindus became
more marked resulting in a partial eclipse of the Non-co-operation
movement by the Khilafat agitation in which the Hindus had no
real interest and of which they were profoundly suspicious, seeing
in it nothing more than a pan-Islamic movement which ultimately
must be against their own interests as a community.

As a consequence, the Aman Sabha or loyalist movement made
steady progress throughout Sind and the alarm sounded by such
papers as the °‘Bharatvasi’, which lost no opportunity of voicing its

suspicion of Muslim intentions, together with the articles which
(BK) R 5-5
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appeared in other newspapers of the province ridiculing the Non-
co-operation movement as it had now degenerated, helped in this
direction. That there had always been a strong pro-Government
element among the zamindar class was undoubted, but these
landowners of both communities lacked a lead. They knew their
position depended on a strong Government and a settled country.
They realised that the leaders of the agitation were men of no
particular standing, many of whom throve on the funds collected
and did not care very much what happened so long as they could
make a living out of it. The unsettling effects of agitation had
already affected the °¢zamindars’ haris and it was not difficult for
them to see that if this sort of thing continued unchecked the
result would be a state of chaos. Even the hollowness of the
Khilafat agitation was apparent to many of the Mahomedan
zamindars. It is not surprising, therefore, that this class as a whole
welcomed the ‘Aman Sabha’ when they found that it was backed,
albeit unofficially, by Government servants generally.

The seeds of distrust had been scattered, not only among the
Hindus, but also among the Mussalmans. An example of this
came to notice at this time in the Nawabshah district where
Mussalmans began to suspect Gandhi of ulterior motives in. his
conversations with the Viceroy. It was said that his object was to
secure privileges for the Hindus that would be detrimental to
Mahomedans.

The agitators, however, affected to ignore the existence of this
mutual suspicion and exerted themselves more than ever to carry
out the Bezwada Congress programme by enrolling Congress
members, collecting money, advocating the boycott of liquor and
foreign cloth and the use of the ‘Charkha’. Shops and offices were
visited and people button-holed in the streets, restaurants and even
in their own houses. People such as shoe-makers, coolies and
sweepers who took no intelligent interest in the agitation or in
politics were roped in to swell the members and give an air of
successful agitation which impressed no thinking person since such
additions, while lowering the status of the Congress in the eyes of
many, merely gave promise of rowdyism which might lead to
anything from simple rioting to revolution.

66



59

All India Khilafat Conference, July 1921

Between the 7th and 9th July the All India Khilafat Conference
was held in Karachi at which Moulana Mahomed and Shaukat Ali
with Dr. Kitchlew were the distinguished visitors. After the Conference,
these three separated to attend district conferences which had been
arranged on the 11th. Mahomed Ali went to Shahadadpur
(Nawabshah), his brother to Naushahrao (Nawabshah) and the
Doctor to Jacobabad. At Naushahrao and Jacobabad the audiences
were disappointingly poor and mainly from those towns themselves,
The Shahdadpur conference was better attended and drew people
from the whole of the taluka. The subjects discussed were spinning,
temperance, Non-co-operation generally and unity while some of
the speakers were reckless in what they said and abuse was hurled
at officials and ““Aman Sabhas”.

The following are a few typical extracts from the speeches
reported from various parts of Sind during the month :—

“ King Edward and King George when ascending the throne
had promised to serve their subjects but had failed to keep
their promises. Since, therefore, the king, who is our servant, has
failed to serve us, why should we serve the king ?”°

“ Under ‘Swaraj’ income-tax will be abolished. ”’

““ The British Government has been ruling India for 150 but
the Mahomedans ruled it for thousands and did it better. There
was less trouble under their rule.”

““ Indians are very brave. Hindu-Muslim unity is the only remedy
for our grievances. Government will try to cause friction between
the two communities. Beef will be thrown into temples and
pork into mosques and the blame will be thrown on Mussal-
mans and Hindus respectively. ™’

““The present Government can best be represented by Ravan
(a demon in Hindu Mpythology) and it is “Ram’s’ duty to crush it.”

“ During the war Hindus and Mahomedans sacrificed their
lives and property and the latter their religion also for the English.
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Under the present rule all the menial work is done by Indians.
An Inspector in India gets Rs. 180 a month when even a
constable in England starts on Rs. 250 a month. If in England
people feel they are too poorly paid they strike.”

‘““ At Nagpur when a Governor went to open a hospital a
bee stung the ‘Lar Sahib’. If bees can disturb the sleep of a
Lat Sahib, surely 33 crores of Indians can disturb 1.5 lakhs
of Europeans. Union is the only thing to bring Swaraj, so
let us unite and get our birth right. ”

““ Indians are chained like slaves. Those who are not free
in this life will get no salvation after death, so all must strike
for freedom. There is no liberty of writing, speech, trade or
religion. How can any one call a Government that massacres
women and boys a Ma-bap sirkar? Those who oppress others
will themselves drown in a river of blood. ”’

““Those of us who join the army and fight abroad are regard-
ed by the people of those countries as slaves, so we should
refuse to join the army. When we get “Sawrqgj’ we shall rub the
Englishmen’s noses on the ground. Zamindars should give up
honours and serve God. For this their reward will be ten
times greater but if they refuse they will go to hell.”

« If Government does not obey our orders we shall in Decem-
ber declare an Indian republic and sever all connection with the
King of England. Every one must be prepared to shed
his blood for his country and anyone working against your
religion is your enemy.

Undoubtedly much of this wild talk and abuse was occasioned
by the steady set-back in the Non-co-operation movement due to
the spread of ‘Aman Sabhas’ which the more respectable and
influential people were joining. This resulted in a conflict between the
Aman Sabhais and the KXhilafatists at Matiari in the Hyderabad
District on July 21st, 1921, when the local police were compelled
to resort to firing with the result that one man died and a few
were wounded.
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Apparently influenced by this incident the following resolution
moved by Mansingh Chuharmal and seconded by Jairamdas
Daulatram Alimchandani was carried in the meeting of the Sind
Provincial Congress Committee held at Sukkur on July 25th, 1921 :-

““In view of the ceaseless repression by Government and police
firing at several places to crush the peaceful movement of
Non-co-operation and unscrupulous use of certain sections of
the Indian Penal Code and in view of the hostilities between
Greece and Angora apparently countenanced by the British
Government, be it resolved that the country be prepared
for Civil Disobedience; that the All India Congress Committee
be requested to appoint a Board with whose sanction Civil-
Disobedience be inaugurated in select areas where the local
leaders can guide the movement peacefully; that the Board be

authorised to decide from time to time what laws are to be
disobeyed.

During the month the following sums in round numbers were
reported to have been collected for the Tilak Fund in the
various Congress districts named :—

Funds :—

Karachi .. ‘e .. .. Rs. 80,000
Hyderabad .. . - Rs. 80,000
Sukkur .. e . Rs. 26,000
Larkana .. .. .. .- Rs. 12,000
Shikarpur .. .- .- Cee Rs. 25,000
Jacobabad .. .- .- .. Rs. 1,850
Sahiti Nawabshah . .. -. Rs. 5,600
Nawabshah .. .. .. Rs. 4,600

National Courts

The arbitration courts at Sukkur and Keamari (Karachi) continue
to function during the month. In the Sukkur court 66 fresh cases
were filed during the month bringing the total to 182. The cases
dealt with by these courts were mostly of a petty civil nature.
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Boycott

The foreign cloth boycott campaign was carried out through the
agency of village panchayat and by house to house visits, mainly
by paid propagandists. Leaflets and posters were printed urging the
people to adopt home spun cloth, both for economic and religious
reasons. The religious element was introduced by these agents who
declared that the fat of cows and pigs, abhorrent to Hindus and
Mussalmans, respectively, was used in the manufacture of foreign
sugar. Attempts without much success, were made to persuade
shopkeepers and merchants not to deal in foreign cloth.

Picketing Liquor Shops

Picketing of liquor shops continued and even spread to one or
two places where it had not appeared before. In XKarachi it was
carried on with considerable enthusiasm. On the whole the picketers
confined themselves to peaceful persuasion, appealing to the reli-
gious feelings of those they were attempting to dissuade, casting
their Gandhi caps at their feet and begging them to desist from
liquor. Undoubtedly the picketing resulted in an appreciable
decrease in the sales. In a few cases violence was resorted to
and in one case action was taken against 5 persons for being
members of an unlawful assembly and for rioting, while in another
the leader of the movement in Karachi, Swami Krishnanand, son
of Bhumanand, was prosecuted for assaulting a policeman on duty
to see that no violence was resorted to by the so-called volun-
teers, some of whom, were mere loafers, engaged in picketing.

Sind Provincial Congress Committee Meeting, August 1921

Evidently the Congress authorities in Sind began about this time
to realise that people were becoming chary of subscribing money
much of which remained unaccounted for. At any rate at Hydera-
bad on the 13th August, a meeting of the executive Council- of
the Sind Provincial Committee with Dr. Choithram Partabrai
Gidwani in the chair decided among other things to appoint a
travelling Inspector of accounts and that each District Congress
Committee should prepare a monthly balance sheet and send a
copy of it to the council before the 15th of the month following.

70



63

In the event of a balance sheet not being sent in accordance to
this rule the representatives on the provincial Committee of that
particular district would be deprived of their votes until the state-
ment of accounts should be received. Several district Committees
budgets were discussed and returned to be cut down. Sahiti
(Nawabshah) and Jacobabad District Congress Committees being
short. of funds were given Rs. 1,000 and Rs. 500 to prevent the
work there being stopped.

Boycott of Foreign Cloth

On the 17th August the Hyderabad District Congress Cominittee
passed among other resolutions one to the effect that the Congress
Committees in the district should arrange for bonfires to be made
of foreign clothes on the 1st September. In Larkana there
was a half-hearted burning of such cloth, while in Xarachi, cloth
dealers were threatened that unless they gave up dealing in such
cloth, the markets would be burned. To add force to the threat
the market chowkidars were enlisted as volunteers.

Leaflets and pamphlets in the name of the Congress and Mahatma
Gandhi were issued by the President of the Sind Provincial

Congress Committee urging in the following words the boycott of
foreign cloth :—

“ Your brothers are starving. Your sisters are naked. It is
a sin to buy foreign cloth ™.

At Hyderabad a crowd seized the clothing of a man and burnt
it, while at Nawabshah some merchants were persuaded to sign
an agreement not to deal in foreign cloth in future.

A message was received from Gandhi to the effect that he hoped
by the 1st October there would be a complete boycott of this
cloth in Sind and 5,000 men ready to go to jail.

Other activities such as the picketing of liquor shops and the

deciding of a few cases in the arbitration courts at Sukkur and
Keamari continued but were not particularly noteworthy.
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In response to the Swadeshi cloth agitation a few Indian pleaders
in Karachi during September sent their old English forms of
headgear to the Tilakalaya to be burnt with other foreign cloth on
the Idgah Maidan on Gandhi’s birthday, and a number of Hindus
resolved only to use khaddar in funeral ceremonies. Outside agita-
tors, chief among whom was Abul Kalam Azad visited Sind
during September and preached, in Karachi mainly, the boycott
of foreign cloth. A few attempts to force people in Karachi to
part with articles of foreign clothing were made.

Nawabshah also reported a certain amount of foreign -cloth
agitation including a bonfire. Some of the merchants also ceased
from ordering this cloth during this month.

Funds, September 1921

Since the collections which were made for Gandhi’s one crore
due from Sind, there had been trouble in the Karachi District
Congress Committee over the allotment of funds for various pur-
poses, and in September 1921 Dr. Haji Ghulam Hussain Kassim
as a protest against the °° irresponsible expenditure of funds”™
resigned from the Swadeshi Mandal. It was plain that the accounts

were not being properly kept though for a time matters were
hushed up and a scandal averted.

Picketing, September 1921

In other districts, agitation continued and in several the authori-
ties found it necessary to take action under the law as for instance
in Larkana where Congress office bearers were prosecuted for
taking out a procession without a police pass; while at Sukkur
where prosecutions under the Bombay Police Act were instituted
against liquor shop pickets. In the last named place the convicted
persons were given an ovation by the crowd that saw them
off at the station. At meetings there collections for continuing
the liquor boycott were made and Leaflets published. At Shikarpur

in the same district however, picketing practically ceased during
the month.
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Jacobabad attempted picketing but this fell through as the paid
‘volunteers> on hearing of the prosecutions elsewhere refused to
go on duty. On the 29th September, however, a procession with
charkhas, swadeshi cloth, etc. went round the town and ended
up with the bonfire of old English clothes made up into the

figure of a man supposed to represent General Dyer. A similar
effigy was burnt at Mirpurkhas.

By the close of the month, the Sukkur arbitration court
reported the disposal of 280 cases.

Speeches, September 1921

Hyderabad district came somewhat to notice during September
by reason of some of the speeches made at meetings for the inost
part in out of the way places. At Talhar for instance on the 9th
September, Allahbachayo, son of Mahomed Khati, is reported to
have spoken as follows :—

“ Englishmen committed tyrannies at Mecca by making men
and women naked and spitting in their months. Englishmen are
‘kaffirs’ and to live under them is to become a °kaffir’. We will
drive them from India, where they wander about like monkeys

and cats. I tell you King George is a blind disobedient donkey
and a great pig > and much in the same strain.

Similarly in other parts of the district speeches showering abuse,
often filthy, on Government and Europeans alike were made.

A Temporary Revival

Agitation in Sind received a fillip during October and November
from several causes. In the first place must be mentioned the trial
at Karachi of the Ali Brothers and others. Although some of
those charged were Hindus, the main accused were Mussalmans and
these gave the trial a decidedly Khilafat bias. Although it will be
more convenient to deal with this fully in the Xhilafat Report,
mention must be made of it in passing as it caused considerable
excitement both in Karachi and elsewhere in Sind and led to an
outburst of agitation of rather a virulent type throughout the
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Province. The Hindus attempted to make capital out of it on the
ground that though the accused were suffering in a religious cause,
yet on account of Hindu-Muslim unity the sympathy of Hindus
could not but be evoked by the sorrows and trials of their Muslim
brothers.

Following this came the Seventh Sind Provincial (Congress)
Conference at Mirpurkhas from the 24th to 26th October at which
a number of popular outside agitators such as Mrs. Sarojini Naidu,
who presided, Jamnalal Bajaj, the Khaddar enthusiast and organiser,
Pandit Amrutlal and the mother and wife of Mahomed Ali, were
present. This Conference was followed by a tour of Sind by Mrs.
Naidu, the other ladies and Jamnalal Bajaj.

Another important cause undoubtedly was the sanction in October
by the Working Committee of the All India Congress Committee of a
sum of Rs. 50,000 for Non-co-operation propaganda in Sind.

The last event of importance was the arrival in India of His Royal
Highness the Prince of Wales whose visit gave the agitators an excellent
opportunity of ‘showing their independence’ by arranging ‘harzals’ and
making numerous speeches which to put it mildly were in the worst
of taste.

Enough has been said above in passing on the trial of the Ali Brothers.
As previously mentioned Hindus tried to find in it a cement for Hindu-
Muslim unity, and it was soon evident that something binding was
urgently required.

Sind Provincial Congress Conference, October 1921

At Mirpurkhas, on the 24th October the Subjects Committee of the
Sind Provincial (Congress) Conference met and resolutions were quickly
and unanimously passed regarding the arrest of the Ali Brothers, the
boycott of the Prince’s visit, the repressive policy of Government, the
boycott of liquor, swadeshi and an incident at Matiari. It was when
the resolution on the Moplah rising came up for discussion that the
weak nature of the tie that bound the two communities at once became
obvious.
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Dr. Choithram Partabrai Gidwani who had drafted the resolution
condemned Government’s high-handedness which was declared to be
the direct cause of the rising but when continuing, he sought to blame
the Moplahs for various excesses, he at once met with opposition. Kazi
Khuda Baksh, son of Nabi Baksh, objected to the actions of Mussalmans
being called in question in this way. Government had interfered with
their religion and so driven the Moplahs into doing what they did. He
was supported by five other Mussalmans. Feeling ran so high that the
Kazi threatened to leave the meeting. Mrs. Naidu then attempted to
intervene with a suggestion that the Mahomedans should be Congress
members first and then Mussalmans. In other words that they should
suppress their religious feelings for the sake of the Congress creed and
unity. Such a suggestion was hardly likely to meet with the approval of
bigoted Mussalmans such as those in the meeting and Pandit Amersen
did not improve matters by declaring that their intention was not to cast
aspersions on the Moplahs but to tell the truth about them. He proceeded
to point out that forcible conversions of Hindus had taken place and
asked whether the next step would be the open slaughter of cows on
religious grounds. Several Hindus supported until Dr. Choitram and
Jairamdas Daulatram attempted to stop the discussion.

Finally after further two hours’ discussion Dr. Choithram, Jairamdas,
Kazi Khuda Baksh and Abdul Jabbar were formed into a sub-committee
to redraft the resolution by the following day.

Next day however, the Mussalmans again rejected the new draft and
Mrs. Naidu trying to be helpful suggested the substiiution of the word
‘regret’ for condemn but as neither side accepted it she withdrew her
amendment with an apology. Eventually, however, on the 26th the
resolution blaming Government and condemning forcible conversions
was passed.

An interesting discussion took place in the subjects committee on a
proposed resclution by Moulvi Monkamdin to the effect that in the
event of the Khilafat and Punjab wrongs not being redressed and Swaraj
not obtained by the end of December a republic should be declared at
the Ahmedabad Congress. Pandit Amersen quickly pulled it to pieces
remarking that the declaration of a republic and non-violent Non-co-
operation were in direct opposition. Who, he asked would protect the
newly hoisted Swaraj flag ? Eventually Monkamdin withdrew.
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At the actual conference on the 25th and 26th, copies of the prescribasd
‘Fatwa’® of the Ulema-i-Hind were distributed, and among tae resolutions

passed were the following —
On the 25th to boycott—
(a) Government service (both civil and military);

(b) Prince’s visit; and
(¢) Liquor shops.

The following day the principal resolutions were—

(a) against “Aman Sabhas’’;

(b) recommendations and exhortations in connection with the
popularising of khaddar; .

(c) deploring the Moplah outrage attributable mainly to
Government’s interference in religious matters and in preventing the
Congress and Khilafat messages from reaching the Moplah massss.
In this the Moplahs were condemned for forcibly converting Hindus
mainly, it would seem, because such conduct might encanger Hindu-
Muslim unity.

(d) declaring the Indian Government not representative in any
way of the Indian people and requesting foreign powers consequently
not to enter into alliance with it.

To coat the pill, Allah Baksh Talpur speaking on the Moplah resolution
remarked that no authentic information had been received as to whether
or not the Moplahs had been the aggressors though there had undoub-
tedly been some disorder. He thought, however that Government had
unnecessarily given offence by interfering in religious matters with the
object of causing intercommunal strife.

The mother of the Ali Brothers (known as Bi-Amman) spoke in ler
usual style at the conference, as the following typical sentencss indicate :—
“If we had been brave the traders (British) would not have been
able to rule over us. If we fail to get Swai'q/, Khilafat and the reclress
of the Punjab wrongs by December and if we cannot throw off our
cowardice life will not be worth living for me, my sons, for Hindus or
for Mussalmans.”
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The wife of Mahomed Ali made a set speech in favour of home spun
cloth and adled that her husband had been arrested for serving God
ard the Proplet.

Mrs. NNaidu and Other Visitors

After the conference, Mrs. Sarojini NMaidu and Jamnalal Bajaj on the
27tk October :met some 200 members of the Indian Merchants’ Association
in Karachi and discussed Swadeshi. Mrs. Naidu appealed to them in
ths name of Candhi to abstain from dealing in foreign cloth out of
rezard for those Indian women and children who were starving and
ill-clothed. Her companion, she said, was there to solve any practical
di-Ticulties the-e might be.

Jamnalal, himself a cloth trader, recounted how he had found it
dificult to give up the foreign cloth trade till convinced after hearing
Gandhi that the profits from that trade were ill-gotten gains obtained at
the expense of the poor of this country. By following Gandhi, he claimed
that they would retain in India the 60 crores of rupees annually spent on -
foreign cloth.

Eventually after considerable discussion, about 60 Marwari and
Shikarpuri merchants pledged themselves to refrain from ordering
further supplies of foreign cloth till December 1921, in order to see the
result of the movement.

The following day (28th October) Mrs. Naidu and Jamnalal, met at
Karachi, where provincial workers discussed Hindu-Muslim unity
in Sind. The meeting, however, merely gave the organisers further
proofs of the jealousies and absolute lack of real unity between the
two communities.

In addition to these private meetings, Mrs. Naidu assisted by Bi-Amman
and the wife of Mahomed Ali, attended public meetings in Karachi on
these two davs and urged the boycott of the Prince’s visit, the use of
Swadeshi and boycott of foreign cloth, and the vital importance of
Hindu-Muslira unity. As regards the Malabar rising they urged that
only inconclusive and prejudiced information had up till then been
received.
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Several ladies’ meetings for the same purpose were held by the same
speakers during October and November but do not call for comment,
except possibly that in Karachi on the 5th November when as a farewell
gift Bi-Amman was presented with a purse of Rs. 1,000, but refused to
accept it for her own use and gave it to the Khilafat Fund.

After this Mrs. Naidu visited all the principal towns in Sind, while
Bi-Amman stopped at Jacobabad, Larkana, Dadu and several other
places exhorting the people to be ready to sacrifice themselves as her
sons had done. The result of these tours was that women in Sind began
to take more interest in agitation.

Proposed Hartal during Royal Visit

As a result of the decision of the working committee of the All
India National Congress, Sind agitators in their speeches advocated a
‘hartal’ on the 17th November 1921, the day the Prince of Wales was
due to land in Bombay. It was observed at various centres of disaffection
and at places where agitators had been able to work up temporary
enthusiasm. In some places Civil-Disobedience was mentioned but it
was generally understood that this had been postponed until after the
Ahmedabad Congress to be held in the last week of December 1921.

Increase in Speeches

The trial in October and conviction on the 2nd November of the Ali
Brothers and others in Karachi had the effect of creating a considerable
amount of agitation and irresponsible speaking throughout Sind which
must be largely attributed to the truculent attitude adopted by most
of the accused during the trial. Hitherto unknown speakers came into the
limelight at a host of small meetings all over the Province, breathing a
spirit of defiance and making irresponsible and abusive speeches. A
selection of these from various districts will suffice.

In Larkana Dr.Changomal, son of Santdas and his companion Udheban,
son of Lekhraj held a series of meetings at villages notably on the 12th
and 16th November. At the former, Changomal said that bribery was
rife in all ranks from the fapedar to the Commissioner and from the
Constable to the Superintendent, while ghee was dear because 20,000
cows were being slaughtered daily.
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Udheban made a fatuous speech charging Government with being
responsible for the decline of Urdu, Arabic, Persian and Hindi education
with the result that Mussalmans could no longer understand their Ulemas
and Hindus their Pandits. He also blamed Government because Hindus
ate mutton and Mussalmans drank liquor and the people generally aped
foreign manners and dress. He also stated that when the Prince of Wales
arrived, Bench Magistrates and chair holders would be turned into
sweepers. Finally, carried away apparently, he exhorted his audience
to break the law and refuse to pay taxes.

At the latter, on the 16th, the Doctor, a Hindu, declared that according
to the ‘Koran’ it was ‘haram’ to serve the Government and that the
‘Farwas” of Ulemas to that effect had been distributed among soldiers.
Continuing he said that on the 1st December, Gandhi would occupy
the Bombay Police-station (apparently he thought there was only one
there) and ask all to declare themselves his servants.

Udheban following made very rash statements such as that many
Indians had died of hunger and that in Marwar instances had occurred
where parents had killed and eaten their own children, whereas prior
to the advent of the British there had been prosperity everywhere. He
was careful, however, to suggest that his audience should not taunt or
fight with the bureaucrats but gave as his reason that he did not want
the earth polluted with the blood of these bureaucrats. Finally he declared
that Satyagraha would be started in Dadu and they would then go to
the police-station and ask the police to vacate peacefully.

Pir Ilahi Baksh, well-known locally, spoke in much the same strain.

On the 14th November also in the Larkana district a Hakim Ali Shah
among other things said that Government had issued a press note
declaring that the Shankaracharya was not the Jagar Guruy and that the
Shariff of Mecca and not the Sultan of Turkey was the Khalifa. He
added that the Prime Minister had told the whites that until the ‘Koran’
was burnt Mussalmans would not be destroyed the inference being that
Europeans were bent on the destruction of both.

At another village in the same district, on the 28th November, a
Ghulam Siddique, son of Mahomed Saleh said that the Government had
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been trying to ruin Islam for the last 150 years and that the Engli
now allied with the Greeks, were committing atrocities on the Turks.

In Nawabshah, similar speeches were made. The way in which Amer:
had gained its independence was held up as an example and i
Disobedience was mooted. Considerable capital was made of the Princ
visit as for instance on the 17th November at Tando Adam, where
speaker declared that His Royal Highness had come to throw dust
the people’s eyes. On this occasion also there was talk of asking 1
police to give up possession of the police stations.

A Hindu followed with a violent speech in which he said Europes
were tricksters and Government officials monkeys, Government’s gt
were useless and he for one did not care for Collector or Governme
As a result of this speech a ‘harral’ was observed.

Hyderabad produced a crop of a similar kind. On the 17th Noveml
at the Headquarters itself, Kazi Assadullah Shah, a well-known lo
firebrand, declared that the English had destroyed the political a
religious rights of Indians. As a consequence, God and His Propl
had ordered a boycott of the English as tyrants. In the district, vulyj
abuse and terms of reproach were used in connection with H.R.H.
Prince of Wales.

In Sukkur district during November, much the same was taki
place. Speakers alluding to the acquittal of Shankaracharya,a co-accus
with the Ali Brothers, characterised it as a trick played by Government
destroy Hindu-Muslim unity. At Shikarpur on the 20th Novemt
Abdul Karim, son of Kadir Baksh, referring to the rioting that t
occurred at Bombay, said that a few had been killed but the time v
coming when thousands by dying would show their readiness to
sacrificed by this tyrannous Government. Gandhi had called upon th
to do their duty and release the Ali Brothers. After the 21st Decem
they would be under the ‘swarqj’ flag. Every day in Calcutta, 30
policemen were resigning. As soon as villagers were made acquain
with the commands of the ‘Korarn’, they would non-co-operate.

At a meeting in Sukkur itself on the 19th November, policemen w
abused, obstructed and stoned. The same evening Bhojraj Motu:
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declaimed “What has the Prince to do with us? What has King George
to do with us? Our king is Mahatma Gandhi. If the Prince were to go
to Ireland he would be killed.””

Another speaker declared “If we had arms, .the British would not
rule over us. The Prince is our servant and deserves no respect”’. Yet
another : ‘“The Prince would not have dared to come if our lions had
not been in prison.”” As the speaker was a Mahomedan presumably he
referred to the recently convicted Ali Brothers.

Karachi district differed in no respect. Such expressions as ‘When the
English came to India they were naked’ (poverty stricken), ‘The English
are mad’, ‘The advent of the English brought famine’, * The king and the
whole of the Empire are drunkards’, ‘Gandhi’s anti-liquor orders will
cause Government a loss of 20 crores’, ‘The English have disrespected
the holy places of Islam,” ‘The British Empire will be ruined’, ‘The
Prince of Wales used 24,000 bottles of liquor, 4,000 bottles of limejuice
and the flesh of 50,000 cows in Bombay’, Government has no shame
and ‘Mahatma Gandhi will be king of India’ were used.

The Kohinoor Cinema showed a film in which the hero, a man with
the appearance of Gandhi, was represented "as obtaining ‘Swaragj’
from a tyrannical Government. A spinning wheel also figured in the
performance and the audience were reported to have been greatly
affected.

At the Star Cinema on the 3rd December when at the conclusion of
the performance a picture of His Majesty was thrown on the screen and
the band played the National Anthem, the audience hooted.

Thar Parkar district also produced a few examples of wild speeches.
Abuse was publicly poured on Government servants such as the Mukhti-
arkar and Sub-Inspector at Sanghar where the Government was described
as ‘beiman’ (without honour) and °‘zalim’. At a meeting in Mirpurkhas
itself on the 16th November, a resolution was passed asking the Delhi
Ulemas to induce the Ali Brothers to accept the title of ““Ghazi™.

During the month three postal employees resigned as a protest against
Government’s action with regard to the Khilafat, the Jallianwala Bagh
incident and their policy of blind repression.

(BK) R 5—6
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To all appearances a very unhealthy state of things was disclosed in
the Province about this time and the Mahomedans on the whole seemed
to be the more affected. It was obvious, however, that respectable and
responsible people of both communities were holding themselves aloof
from the riff-raff accountable for the wild speeches and abuse. In a
number of cases when these apparently defiant orators on being proceeded
against meekly apologised or paid their fines instead of going to jail, a
spirit of depression spread among the agitators. '

Another depressing factor must have been the obvious reluctance now
being shown by the general public to subscribe to the various funds
despite the promises of ‘Swaraj’ by the end of the year. The people,
however, had not lost all their shrewdness and they could not have helped
noticing in the past that the more they paid the more affluent became
the agitators, many of whom were paid propagandists.

Disintegration

According to the promises and boasts of the leaders of the Non-co-
operation movement, December 1921 was to see the establishment of
‘Swaraj’. Much extravagant speculation had been indulged in and the
illiterate classes worked up to expect a species of millennium. December,
however, showed that various disintegrating factors were at work, and
jealousy was not the least of them.

During the month new office bearers for the various Congress
Committees in Sind as well as representatives of Sind on the All
India Congress Commitiee were elected resulting in much ill-feeling,
especially between the Hyderabad people and the rest, since
Hyderabad had secured a preponderating influence in the Sind
Provincial Congress Committee. Virumal Begraj of Sukkur resigned
the Vice-presidentship of that body as a protest. At the same time
all over Sind there were signs of local jealousy and dissatisfaction.

From Larkana a telegram was sent to Gandhi that the delegates
from that district represented no one but themselves. In Nawabshah
here were complaints voiced in the Bharatvasi of Hyderabad that
the elections had been irregular. Similar dissensions were apparent
in Mirpurkhas while in Jacobabad no candidate was forthcoming
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for the Congress Committees. Karachi with unconscious humour
after condemning the actions of Manilal J. Vyas and Mahomed

Khan Ghazi Khan referred to the local Committee as the ° Satanic’
Congress Bureaucracy.

If, as it was reported at the time, it was true that only ten per
cent of the Congress members at Hyderabad took part in the
elections and even less at Sukkur and elsewhere, while at the
elections for the Bombay Legislative Council from 350 per cent

to 70 per cent of the electorate voted, the thinking section of
agitators must have received a considerable shock.

The Movement Analysed

The Non-co-operation movement may be said to have been
compounded of three ingredients, viz., a movement or desire on
the part of the literate classes, mostly Hindus, in favour of a
change in the existing system, a change which would give them
greater powers ; a purely Mussalman movement to restore and
maintain the position of Islam, the fallen state of which was
believed to have been largely brought about by the British ; and
finally an wunderlying current of hatred of the English which had
developed in many communities and individuals from various
causes. The masses were stirred up and drawn in without exactly
knowing what the agitation meant and whether it was likely to
lead. AIll they were told was that under ¢Swaraj’ everything would

be for the best and they would benefit in some vague but mainly
material way.

For the time intér-caste and inter-racial jealousy, distrust and
antipathy were smothered or glossed over. In fact some speakers
in India were quite frank about it, declaring that provided they
stuck together long enough to oust the British, it mattered not if
thereafter they flew at each other’s throats.

But this suppressed force could not be kept under long and
proved in the end to be older and stronger than any other. When
it once more rose to the surface, wide-spread dissensions broke
out and finally with other factors, such as the declared abolition
of the Khilafat and the expulsion of the Khalifat by Turkey, acts

-
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which may, in popular phrase, be said to have ‘knocked the
bottom out of the Khilafat movement ’ led to general disunion, and
the virtual colilapse of the agitation.

For sometime it had been obvious that the Non-co-operation
movement had, while spreading also degenerated. The moderates
and the better class educated people were drawing away from it.
As regards the Khilafat part of it, however, there were still thoughtful
people who believed that the British Government was respon-
sible for the humiliation of Islam and had broken its promises
with regard to the holy places. '

Agitation, December 1921

During December agitation still continued in a virulent form, the
Khilafat question and Swadeshi being the most popular items. The
latter however, was reported to be losing ground in Karachi
and Hyderabad though there was semblance of increased interest
in it in Upper Sind.

The Prince’s visit was a most useful adjunct to the usual and
now somewhat stale subjects or excuses for agitation. Posters
printed in Hyderabad and Shikarpur over the names of
Dr. Choithram P. Gidwani and others appeared all over Sind urging
the boycott of the visit. For the second time the audience at the
Star Cinema on the 11th December hooted when pictures of Their
Majesties were thrown omn the screen.

The results of the agitation were not particularly marked or
worthy of note. A few Government servants such as a clerk in the
Educational Inspector’s office, a Sub-Overseer on the Jamrao Canal
staff, and a teacher of an aided Anglo-Vernacular School resigned
their appointments because they felt they could no longer co-operate
with Government. Congress Committees were formed in a few
places mainly in the Thar Parkar -district where they had not been
before. Speeches continued to be objectionable in tone and the
agitators about this time seem to have concentrated attention on
the police, especially those whose duty it was to be present at,
and to report on meetings. Undoubtedly the loyalty of the police
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especially those in out of the way places, was severely tested.
They were publicly abused and described as ° worse than kaffirs.’
At almost every meeting they were held up to ridicule. When it
is considered that the police were themselves discontented with
their pay, which the high cost of living, especially in Karachi, had

made quite inadequate, the loyalty of these men is all the more
surprising and praiseworthy.

Doubtless the agitator had more than one object in thus attack-
ing the police. The first and only open one was that it formed
part of the policy of Non-co-operation laid down by the leaders.
There was another, however, which none would openly admit
but which none the less had its effect. As has been remarked before,
the agitation had slowly been passing from the hands of the more
literate and respectable classes to the unruly and wunrestrained
masses with the result that the audiences were mere mobs, albeit
peaceful ones asyet, and the speeches mere vulgar abuse. The authori-
ties could no longer regard the agitation with equanimity and
action against the worst offenders, before matters grew worse and
the rabble became hopelessly inflamed, became necessary. One
form  which such action took was to proceed against those whose
speeches passed all bounds of expediency and decency. Prosecutions
depended on reports of speeches and naturally those speakers who
relied on violent and abusive expressions to rouse interest regarded
the police attending meetings as their special enemies.

Possibly, owing to the withdrawal of the more moderate and
sane elements and to the action of the authorities in proceeding
against the worst offenders, the number of meetings showed signs
of decreasing everywhere. Irresponsible speakers still stumped the
country prophesying that soon police ‘thanas,” Government offices
and treasuries would be taken over and policemen deprived of

their arms. Abuse was still hurled against officials and Govern-
ment generally.

At a meeting at Dadu (Larkana) omne Jassanmal, son of
Ramchand, referring to the Mukhtiarkar remarked that in the end
a mad dog bites its own master. Mir Allah Baksh Talpur of
Thar Parkar district spoke scathingly of the Mir of Khairpur for
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being so - completely under the thumb of the Political Agent,
‘the two-pice Collector of Sukkur.’ In a Karachi meeting Kazi
Khuda Baksh Nabi Baksh, speaking on a resolution dealing with
the arrests of Sikh leaders in the Punjab declared that no justice
could be expected from the throne when those who sat on it
decided matters after drinking. He added that Government was
digging its own grave by attempting through repressive measures
to destroy the Non-co-operation movement. At Mirpurkhas a
meeting again urged the Delhi Ulemas to induce the Ali Brothers
to accept the title of Ghazi. Other meetings at Hyderabad and
Mirpurkhas congratulated Abul Kalam Azad, C. R. Das and
Jairamdas Daulatram Alimchandani, ZEx-Editor of ¢ The Hindu”
(Hyderabad) on their arrests. ., In the Nawabshah  distri¢t, at
Naushahra, on the 18th December, Kazi Abdul Rahman said
the British Government had become blind and ready to ruin the
people’s religion. He added that in India the British
numbered only 2% lakhs and could be drowned in the spittle
of Indians. At another meeting in the same place the following
week a speaker described Government as a cheat, liar, tyranni-
cal and satanic but added that it would soon be put to flight.
Another speaker in Kandiaro of the same district said they must
organize a mnational army and police force on the Government

pattern to protect the lives and property of the people, whlle other
speakers urged the formation of volunteer corps.

At Jamesabad (Thar Parkar district) on December 13th and 14th the
following expressions were used : “We will shortly raise the flag of:
our (Swaraj) Government at Ahmedabad and compel the Sirkar to fall
at our feet”. It is ‘haram’ to serve Government. ‘“Don’t heed the

officers of thlS savage and satanic Government. Ofﬁ01als give up service
since it is “haram’ for you to serve’.

Funds

In November the General Secretary of the All Indié 7C0~11gresis
Committee had announced in Delhi that collections in Sind for the
‘Tilak Swaraj Fund’ had reached Rs. 1,95,542.  The followmg month

Jairamdas Daulatram Alimchandani wired that Sind’s total was
Rs. 2,07,539. . _ : )
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The Close of the Year

At the close of 1921 there was a slight lull in the activities of agitators
and the number of meetings fell considerably. This, however, was
mainly due to the absence of the leaders at the Ahmedabad Congress
from which great things were expected.

Schools and Colleges

The boycott of Government educational institutions dates from

September 1920 but its effects in Sind were not really noticeable till the
beginning of 1921.

This should, perhaps, be regarded as the most important item in
the Non-co-operation programme. It was argued that, through its
educational system, Government dominated not only the present but
the rising generation as well. At the same time it must be recognised
that having to do mostly with the impressionable young and their largely

unpractical teachers, poorly paid and disgruntled, it was the item most
likely to lead to immediately visible results.

One section of the Non-co-operators, however, were opposed to the
introduction of this boycott on a large scale unless and until ‘National’
schools and colleges had been prepared to receive these Non-co-operating
students. This section was overruled, however, by the majority, led
well by agitators whose main, if not sole, idea seem to have been to
create an immediate effect. The future could look after itself presumably
and they were prepared apparently to leave the formation of national
schools and colleges largely to local initiative. This lack of constructive
policy, probably more than anything else, was responsible for the
eventual failure of this part of the programme.

These agitators proceeded to carry out their plans by starting vigorous
propaganda and in Sind determined efforts were made to wreck existi<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>